ПШ



Materials Engineering

Fabian Diewald

Impact of Microstructural Changes in Concrete on Coda Waves

ЛШ

Impact of Microstructural Changes in Concrete on Coda Waves

Fabian Diewald

Complete reprint of the dissertation approved by the TUM School of Engineering and Design of the Technical University of Munich for the award of the Doktor der Ingenieurwissenschaften (Dr.-Ing.).

Examining Committee:

- Chair Prof. Dr.-Ing. Kai-Uwe Bletzinger
- Examiners 1. Prof. Dr.-Ing. Christoph Gehlen
 - 2. PD Dr. rer. nat. Ernst Niederleithinger
 - 3. Prof. Thomas Schumacher

The dissertation was submitted to the Technical University of Munich on 2 May 2023 and accepted by the TUM School of Engineering and Design on 21 October 2023. The German National Library has registered this publication in the German National Bibliography. Detailed bibliographic data are available on the Internet at https://portal.dnb.de

Imprint

1. Edition

Copyright © 2024 TUM.University Press Copyright © 2024 Fabian Diewald (ORCID-ID: 0000-0001-6791-6046)

Layout design and typesetting: Fabian Diewald Cover design: Gisela Roetzer Cover illustration: Vita_stock.adobe.com

Digitale Ausgabe der gleichnamigen Printversion.

TUM.University Press Technical University of Munich Arcisstr. 21 80333 München, Germany

DOI: 10.14459/2024md1706188 (digital edition) ISBN: 978-3-95884-090-4 (printed edition)

www.tum.de

Summary

Monitoring the condition of concrete structures is a macrosocial task for safety and economic reasons that increasingly uses techniques from the field of nondestructive testing. A promising technique for structural health monitoring of heterogeneous materials such as concrete or reinforced concrete is coda wave interferometry, as it is sensitive to even weak changes in the material and can therefore be used as an early warning system for damage. The technique is based on comparing two ultrasonic wave forms to derive a change in velocity. The change is particularly well measurable and resolvable in heterogeneous media due to strong scattering in late arriving wave packages, the coda.

The objective of the study was to investigate the relationships between transient impacts, such as temperature, relative humidity, and external stress changes, on the velocity change of coda waves propagating in concrete. Furthermore, long-term phenomena such as shrinkage, creep, and hydration were characterized using the relative velocity change. The investigations published in three articles showed that temperature and stress changes in the elastic range are linearly related to the velocity change of the coda. The interaction of temperature and humidity, on the other hand, led to a non-linear change. Furthermore, the results demonstrated that shrinkage, creep, and hydration can be described not only by conventional measurement techniques but also by means of coda wave interferometry.

When using coda wave interferometry, it is crucial to be able to separate the individual effects to distinguish a reversible velocity change from irreversible damage. An approach for this separation is provided summarizing the possible impacts. All relationships were developed using a uniform concrete mix, with the objective that the results can be transferred to a multiscale model. Such a model can form the basis for the transferability of these relationships to any material composition in conjunction with a simulation of wave propagation to establish coda wave interferometry as an early warning system for concrete structures.

Zusammenfassung

Die Zustandsüberwachung von Betonbauwerken ist aus Gründen der Sicherheit und Wirtschaftlichkeit eine gesamtgesellschaftliche Aufgabe, bei der zunehmend Techniken aus dem Bereich der zerstörungsfreien Prüfung zum Einsatz kommen. Eine vielversprechende Technik im Bereich der Dauerüberwachung von Strukturen aus heterogenen Materialien wie Beton oder Stahlbeton ist die Codawelleninterferometrie, da sie sensitiv gegenüber kleinsten Änderungen im Material ist und daher als Frühwarnsystem für auftretende Schäden in Frage kommt. Die Technik basiert auf dem Vergleich zweier Wellenformen im Ultraschallbereich, aus dem eine Geschwindigkeitsänderung abgeleitet werden kann. Diese ist aufgrund der großen Streuung in heterogenen Medien in spät eintreffenden Wellenpaketen, der sogenannten Coda, besonders gut messbar und auflösbar.

Ziel der Studie war es, die Beziehungen zwischen instationären Einflüssen, d. h. durch Temperatur, relative Luftfeuchtigkeit und externe Spannungsänderungen, auf die Geschwindigkeitsänderung von sich in Beton ausbreitenden Codawellen zu untersuchen. Zudem wurden die Langzeitphänomene Schwinden, Kriechen und die Hydratation mittels der Geschwindikeitsänderung charakterisiert. Die in drei Artikeln veröffentlichten Untersuchungen zeigten, dass Temperatur- und Spannungsänderungen im elastischen Bereich linear mit der Geschwindigkeitsänderung der Coda zusammenhängen. Die Wechselwirkung von Temperatur und Feuchte hingegen führte zu einer nichtlinearen Änderung der Geschwindigkeit der Coda. Außerdem wurde gezeigt, dass die Prozesse Schwinden, Kriechen und Hydratation neben konventionellen Messtechniken auch mit der Codawellen-interferometrie beschreibbar sind.

Bei der Anwendung der Codawelleninterferometrie ist es entscheidend, die einzelnen Effekte voneinander trennen zu können, um eine reversible Geschwindigkeitsänderung von einem dauerhaften Schaden unterscheiden zu können. Für diese Trennung wird ein Ansatz angegeben, der die möglichen Einflüsse zusammenfasst. Alle entwickelten Zusammenhänge wurden unter Verwendung eines einheitlichen Betonrezepts entwickelt, sodass die Ergebnisse auf ein multiskaliges Modell übertragen werden können. Ein solches Modell kann im Zusammenspiel mit einer Simulation der Wellenausbreitung die Grundlage für die Übertragbarkeit dieser Zusammenhänge auf beliebige Materialkompositionen bilden, um die Codawelleninterferometrie als Frühwarnsystem für Strukturen aus Beton zu etablieren.

Contents

1	Intro 1.1 1.2 1.3	duction							
2	Theo	retical Background	7						
	2.1	Concrete Raw Materials and their Elastic Properties							
	2.2	Wave Propagation Theory in Heterogeneous Solids 1							
	2.3	Coda Wave Interferometry: State of the Art 1	5						
		2.3.1 Theory of Coda Wave Interferometry	5						
		2.3.2 Effects of State Changes on the Coda	8						
3	Impa	t of Temperature and Relative Humidity Variations on Coda Waves							
	in C	ncrete	1						
	3.1	Introduction	2						
	3.2	Materials and Methods	3						
		3.2.1 Coda Wave Interferometry	3						
		3.2.2 Quality Factor	4						
		3.2.3 Materials 2	5						
		3.2.4 Experimental Setup 2	6						
	3.3	Results	8						
		3.3.1 Temperature Impact on the Coda	8						
		3.3.2 Relative Humidity Impact on the Coda	1						
		3.3.3 Combined Impact of Temperature and Relative Humidity 3	2						
		3.3.4 Impact on the Quality Factor	4						
	3.4	Discussion	5						
	3.5	Conclusions	7						
4	Impa	t of External Mechanical Loads on Coda Waves in Concrete 4	1						
	4.1	Introduction	.2						
	4.2	State of the Art	2						
		4.2.1 Coda Wave Interferometry	2						
		4.2.2 Mechanical Loading of Concrete	4						
		6							

	4.3	Materials and Methods4.3.1Experimental Setup4.3.2Compression Experiment4.3.3Tension Experiment	46 46 47 48
	4.4	4.3.4Shrinkage and Creep ExperimentResults4.4.1Uniaxial Compression4.4.2Uniaxial Tension4.4.3Shrinkage and Creep	48 50 50 52 55
	4.5 4.6	Discussion	57 58
5	Mon	itoring Early Cement Hydration with Coda Wave Interferometry	59
	5.1 5.2	Introduction	60 60 60
	5.3	Methods	62 62 64
	5.4 5.5	Results	64 66
6	Cond 6.1 6.2 1 2 3	clusions Summarized Impacts on the Velocity Variation Coda Wave Interferometry for Early-warning Systems Note on Related Literature Author Contributions ChatGPT about Future Monitoring Systems for Civil Engineering Structures	69 73 75 77 79
Re	feren	ces	83

1 Introduction

1.1 The Big Picture

One of the greatest disasters in recent building history was the sudden collapse of the Polcevera Viaduct in Genoa, colloquially known as Ponte Morandi, which was an essential connection element between Northern Italy and France (Figure 1). The inner-city bridge was inaugurated in 1967 as a representative and innovative cable-stayed bridge comprising three pylons made from prestressed concrete, one of which collapsed on August 14, 2018 and caused the death of 43 people, followed by massive economical damage for the region [1]. Contrary to the preliminary assumptions of exceptionally unfavorable weather conditions on that day, several studies [2, 3, 4, 5] concluded that the main reason for the collapse was the combined effect of fatigue at a very high number of load cycles and corrosion that had been amplified by the saltiness from the sea and pollutants of nearby industry. The degradation of the bridge had advanced much more than expected at the time of its construction, and the over 80 million larger load amplitude cycles for the bridge were many more than originally assumed. Totally, over half a billion vehicles crossed the bridge during its service life [2].



Figure 1: Collapsed approximately 250 m long segment of the Polcevera Viaduct (Ponte Morandi) over the Val Polcevera connecting A10 four-lane motorway in Genoa, Italy. The particularly damaged pillar 9 of the western pylon triggered the structural failure causing 43 casualties on August 14, 2018. The remains of the original bridge were demolished in June 2019 and replaced by the Genoa-Saint George Bridge, inaugurated on August 3, 2020.

Furthermore, it was suggested that the collapse could have been predicted, and thus, avoided by adequate maintenance based on model predictions, valid at that time, or a structural health monitoring system using sensors that continuously tracked the condition of the bridge by means of non-destructive testing (NDT) methods [3, 5]. The authors of the later published studies specifically pointed out the generally underestimated phenomenon of combined fatigue and corrosion for structures built from reinforced and prestressed concrete to the scientific community.

The collapse also raised concerns about the general condition of infrastructure in Europe, and several countries demanded renovation and replacement of structures exposed to corrosion and deterioration.

On the basis of experience to date, only a tiny minority of structures made of reinforced concrete suffer from durability issues on the order of magnitude represented by the Polcevera Viaduct. The vast majority of our existing infrastrucutre is effectively monitored by regular standardized inspections, which depend on national bulding codes regarding their frequency and level of detail. Additionally, the knowledge about design principles to counter durability problems increased significantly, e.g., by the introduction of concepts for life cycle assessment [6, 7, 8, 9, 10], and consideration of data from installed monitoring systems for the evaluation of structural reliability [11, 12].

Using Germany as an example, the largest proportion of our infrastructural buildings was built using structural concrete, and the majority of the over 52,000 bridges were constructed between 1960 and 1990 [13]. Amongst novel reliability models and updated building codes, the scientific community addresses the safety needs of the ageing infrastructure, which has to deal with a steadily increasing traffic volume at the same time, by developing new monitoring methods for damage detection.

Structural concrete poses a special challenge to monitoring techniques, mainly because of its distinctive heterogeneity and complex microstructure. One of the most promising techniques for detecting even weak changes in the microstructure of concrete is ultrasound-based coda wave interferometry (CWI).

The time-dependent progress of corrosion-induced deterioration shown in Figure 2 [6] illustrates that microstructural changes, i.e., micro-scale damage formation, starts after depassivation of the reinforcement. The damage level becomes critical after exceeding a limit state for the crack width [14] because selfreinforcing effects occur due to facilitated gas and liquid transport mechanisms until the structure reaches the Ultimate Limit State, which is equal to its failure. Within this process, detection of mechanical damage is desired as early as possible for safety and economical reasons. Detection is accomplished by either inspection at discrete points in time or by a continuous monitoring system. Due to its extraordinary sensitivity in heterogeneous media like concrete, CWI is more suitable for damage detection at an unprecedented early stage than conventional NDT techniques.



Figure 2: Time-dependent progress of corrosion-induced deterioration and damaging of reinforced concrete structures and their limit state (adapted from [6]), characterized by the initiation period and the damaging period, during which mechanical damage occurs. In comparison with many conventional non-destructive testing methods in heterogeneous media, coda wave interferometry is more sensitive and has the potential to detect damage before other techniques.

1.2 Research Objective

The potential sensitivity of coda waves to weak changes in heterogeneous media has been recognized long before its application to concrete structures. Early studies from the geophysical community investigated the seismic source, attenuation and scattering effects of coda waves based on small local earthquakes as early as 1969 [15, 16]. Finite difference and finite element methods have already been suggested for the case of known model parameters to interpret seismograms with respect to geometrical localization of any given change. The model parameters for the Earth's crust were typically unknown, however, they may be well-known in the current static models used for engineering structures. Later in 2002, CWI was introduced by revealing the relationship between the seismic velocity in granite and temperature changes, together with the associated acoustic emissions [17]. Furthermore, the coda waves, which initially appear to be chaotic and noisy, were found to be highly repeatable as no medium change appears [18]. The exceptional sensitivity, together with the signal repeatability, led to a large number of studies regarding the detection and localization of weak changes in concrete using CWI with respect to ultrasonic wave speed, as affected by thermal, mechanical and chemical damage [19]. However, these impacts may affect a structure at the same time and add various terms to the total velocity change. This superimposition is a big challenge regarding the interpretation of the velocity variation as their exact separation among the individual effects is unknown. Irreversible changes are of particular interest because they are generally synonymous with occuring damage in the structure. Therefore, another aspect of interpreting the velocity variation is the separation between changes that are reversible, as well as those which are irreversible and indicate damage. Figure 3 shows different impacts on engineering structures that affect the properties of coda waves. The general research objective in this study is the characterization of the transient impacts of temperature, moisture, and stress on coda waves, as expressed by the ultrasonic velocity change dv/v.





Figure 3: Summarized effects on the velocity variation dv/v between two ultrasonic signals propagating in a structure at a reference state and at the evaluated state. The term long-term phenomena aggregates further concrete-specific phenomena, e.g., shrinkage, creep, carbonation, and corrosion, whereas the remaining effects act on a short-term scale.

Several advances are expected due to investigating the relationships between the various impacts on the velocity variation in a systematic way, i.e., using a consistent concrete mix and identical raw materials throughout all of the experiments. In addition to increasing the level of knowledge about CWI data analysis and potential measurement setups for both laboratory and in-situ studies, this study also covers the following three major theses:

- We gain an improved understanding of the physical relationships regarding a state change in concrete and an ultrasonic velocity change of the propagating coda waves by means of controlled experiments on a laboratory scale, during which we only vary one impact parameter at a time. We can quantify the developed relationships by the change in dv/v per impact using the stretching method [20].
- We can transfer the developed relationships to the structural scale to translate between a change in the measured total dv/v and a state change.
- We create input data for material models on the micro- and mesostructural scale that are capable of simulating nonlinear state changes, including damage. These models are the basis for wave propagation simulations used to attribute changes in dv/v to occurring damage. The relationships developed will be transferable to arbitrary concrete mixes and systems by means of these models.

The research presented in this study addresses the formulated hypotheses by way of three articles, which are summarized in the final conclusions. The results will contribute to establishing the CWI method with regard to applicability as an early-warning monitoring system for integrity assessment of structures made of reinforced concrete. The motivation for the presented research is the need for a general safety increase in our built environment.

1.3 Research Framework

This study originated within the framework of the research unit *CoDA – Concrete Damage Assessment by Coda Waves* [21], which was founded in 2019. The research unit is organized as a mainly national network of scientists coming from the disciplines of geophysics and civil engineering, and funded by the *German Research Foundation*. Its overall objective is the development of a novel methodology for continuous condition assessment of reinforced concrete structures, which is capable of continuously updating durability-oriented computational models [22].

Research within this unit is conducted on both the specimen scale and the structural scale. The specimen scale focuses on exploring the effects of microstructural changes on the coda using experiments in a laboratory environment, which is covered within this study. Simultaneously developed material models [23, 24] form the basis for high-performance simulations of wave propagation [25, 26, 27] to represent the experimentally observed changes. Furthermore, experiments on real structures on the structural scale [28, 29, 30, 31] were conducted with the objective of identifying and localizing any occurring material changes using CWI-based techniques [32, 33, 34, 35] combined with numerical structural models.

2 Theoretical Background

2.1 Concrete Raw Materials and their Elastic Properties

The design process of concrete has many degrees of freedom. Possible considerations reach from the planned area of application, which primarily implies requirements regarding mechanical strength and exposition, over rheological properties of the fresh concrete, and the on-site construction method. Technical considerations can be further extended with respect to the environmental impact, or the related emissions of the materials, and their availability, as well as economical aspects. At the end of the design process, concrete is defined by a mix of several raw materials in the desired ratio. The basic components are cement, acting as a binder, plus mixing water, and aggregates of various sizes. Besides the main components, admixtures, and additives can be added, or substitute other components [36].

Cement is a ground, inorganic hydraulic binder that hardens during the chemical reaction of water with several phases, mainly calcium silicate. This reaction is referred to as hydration. Depending on the ratio of water and cement w/c, non-hydrated cement particles either remain in the microstructure for a ratio below approximately 0.40, while excess water, which remains in the system above a ratio of 0.40, facilitates the formation of capillary pores because it evaporates slowly over time [37]. Different cement compositions can be classified according to building standards, e.g., *DIN EN 197-1* [38] or *ASTM C150-07* [39], depending on the ratio of the main components, which are Portland clincer, blast-furnace slag, pozzolan, fly ash, burnt shale, limestone, or silica.

Cement paste is the hardened product of cementitious materials that have reacted with water. Its compressive strength linearly depends on the degree of hydration above a critical hydration degree [40]. However, strength increases rather slowly above this threshold, and the macroscopic properties are considered to be a combination of the properties of the individual cement phases. An excerpt of the properties of various characteristic minerals is provided in Table 1 [41, 42]. Information regarding the elastic properties of further phases is summarized in the literature [43]. In addition to hardened cement paste, elasticity and yield stress during the fresh state of concrete are becoming increasingly important properties due to their industrial use, e.g., for 3D printing technologies, of extremely fluid cement-based materials such as self-compacting or selfleveling mortars, and concretes [44].

lus G [GPa], Young's modulus E [GPa], and Poisson ration $ u$ [-].							
Cement phase	CCN	K G		E	ν		
Tricalcium silicate	C ₃ S	105.2	44.8	117.6	0.134		
Dicalcium silicate	C_2S	105.2	44.8	117.6	0.134		
Tricalcium aluminate	C ₃ A	105.2	44.8	117.6	0.134		
Silica fume	SiO ₂	36.5	31.2	72.8	0.167		
Portlandite	СН	40.0	16.0	42.3	0.324		
C-S-H	$C_{1.7}SH_4$	14.9	9.0	22.4	0.25		

Table 1: Excerpt of elastic properties of characteristic cement and cement paste phases with their cement chemist notation (CCN) [43, 41, 42]: compression (bulk) modulus K [GPa], shear modulus G [GPa], Young's modulus E [GPa], and Poisson ration ν [-].

The last basic component of concrete are aggregates, where conventionally used crushed or naturally mined stones still make up the largest share of the aggregates in concrete. They can be characterized by several physical properties, e.g., their pore space, density, magnetic properties, radioactivity, thermal, and electrical properties.

The elastic and seismic properties are the basis to describe wave propagation in isotropic solid materials [45], e.g., by means of the link of the ultrasonic velocities, and mechanical stresses provided by the acousto-elasticity theory [46]. Generally, the wave velocity v follows Equation (2.1) using the quotient of the wave path s over time t.

$$v = \frac{s}{t} \tag{2.1}$$

The ultrasonic pulse velocity in concrete is generally frequency dependent [47], whereby frequency affects both wave speed and attenuation [48]. Equation (2.2) describes the frequency f using the wavelength λ .

$$f = \frac{v}{\lambda} \tag{2.2}$$

The elastic wave velocities of the basic types of body waves, the primary wave (pressure wave or P-wave) with velocity v_p and the secondary wave (shear wave or S-wave) with velocity v_s are given in Equations (2.3a) and (2.3b) using the material density ρ , Lamé's first parameter λ , and Lamés second parameter μ .

$$v_p = \sqrt{\frac{\lambda + 2\mu}{\rho}}$$
(2.3a)

$$v_s = \sqrt{\frac{\mu}{\rho}}$$
(2.3b)

Concrete can be represented by material models, which consist of a system of cement paste, aggregate particles, the pore system, and increasingly a solid phase that is considered as the perturbed region around the aggregate particles. This Interfacial Transition Zone (ITZ) incorporates slightly different transportation mechanisms, and mechanical characteristics [49, 50, 51].

To directly relate microstructural material models, which use locally discretized material parameters, with elastic properties, a homogenized stiffness tensor, e.g., of the hydrated cement paste, can be determined. A formulation of the tensor can be accomplished by means of effective medium theories, e.g., using a Mori-Tanaka scheme [52]. These properties are, in turn, connected with elastic wave velocities using the effective bulk modulus *K* and the shear modulus *G*, which is equal to μ [53].

$$K = \rho \left(v_p^2 - \frac{4}{3} v_s^2 \right) \tag{2.4}$$

$$G = \rho v_s^2 \tag{2.5}$$

In addition, the dynamic modulus of elasticity E_d can be determined non-destructively by means of the wave velocities [54], where the dynamic Poisson's ratio ν_d can be estimated around 0.26 for low standard and 0.18 for high strength selfcompacting concretes [55].

However, the dynamic modulus of elasticity is around 30% higher than the conventionally determined static modulus [56] because E_d is determined at low stresses and is therefore rather a tangent modulus.

$$v_p = \sqrt{\frac{E_d}{\rho} \frac{1-\mu}{(1+\mu)(1-2\mu)}}$$
(2.6a)

$$v_s = \sqrt{\frac{E_d}{\rho} \frac{1}{2(1+\mu)}} = \sqrt{\frac{G}{\rho}}$$
(2.6b)

The elastic properties of naturally occurring aggregates are subject to variations. They are governed by the properties of their individual minerals, their fractional volume, and their bonding, temperature, and pressure. Therefore, the properties can be anisotropic and deviate from macroscopic moduli, assuming homogeneous stress and strain [57, 58]. Table 2 provides elastic properties for characteristic rock-forming trigonal and Feldspars minerals for aggregates in concrete. Additionally, wave velocities and Poisson's ratio of recycled aggregates are being increasingly considered due to their reusability [59].

Table 2: Elastic properties of characteristic rock-forming minerals [60, 61], calculated according to Reuss
(index R) [58] and Voigt (index V) [57]: density $ ho$ [kg/m ³], mean atomic mass m_A [amu], compres-
sion (bulk) modulus K [GPa], Young's modulus E [GPa], shear modulus G [GPa], velocities of the
P- and S-waves v_p [m/s] and v_s [m/s], and Poisson ration $ u$ [-].

System	ρ	K_R	E_R	G_R	v_p	ν
Mineral	m_A	K_V	E_V	G_V	v_s	
trigonal						
α -quartz	2650	38.0	91.8	41.5	6050	0.08
	20.03	38.6	101.2	47.6	4110	
Calcite	2712	71.4	68.8	25.7	6660	0.31
	20.02	77.7	92.6	35.6	3390	
Feldspars						
Albite	2605	53.0	69.0	26.9	6060	0.28
	20.17	61.6	80.5	31.4	3350	
Anorthite	2760	79	-	37	7050	0.29
	-	89	-	43	3800	
Orthoclase	2570	40.3	55.8	22.0	5690	-
	-	56.0	78.3	30.9	3260	

The velocity of commonly used magmatic and metamorphic rocks has a range that depends on the individual mineral composition. For typical aggregates in concrete, compression and shear wave velocities range between $v_p = 2.46...5.56$ km/s and $v_s = 2.07...3.49$ km/s for Quartzite ($\rho = 2636$ kg/m³) and $v_p = 4.67...6.15$ km/s and $v_s = 2.61...3.51$ km/s for dry Basalt ($\rho = 2840$ kg/m³).

In addition to the main components, finely ground admixtures are often added either as inert (type I), e.g., ground aggregates or pigments, or reactive materials during the hydration (type II), e.g., fly ash, blast-furnace slag, or silica powder [36]. Admixtures of type II can partially substitute the volume of necessary cement. Therefore, these supplementary cementitious materials (SCM) are increasingly being used to create more eco-efficient cements [49, 62]. For example, current research aims at replacing an increasing portion of Portland cement clinker by agricultural waste products like risk husk ash [63, 64].

In order to influence the concrete properties, additives can be added to the concrete mix. Currently, almost every state-of-the-art concrete used in practice is being optimized regarding its compactability, workability, and durability [36].

The group of additives comprises effects on the fresh concrete that are either water-reducing, retarding, accelerating, or have further effects according to *ASTM C494/C494M-17* [65]. Eventually, the addition of these additives results in adjusted properties of the hardened concrete, e.g., compressive or flexural strength, elastic modulus, or durability-related properties, e.g., resistance to freeze-thaw cycles.

Besides its advantageous properties regarding mechanical strength, reinforced concrete (RC) structures can be subject to physical and chemical attacks, which have an adverse impact on their durability and therefore cause a degradation of the material. RC durability is predominantly governed by its resistance against phenomena on a microstructural level, such as freeze-thaw attack [66, 67, 68], carbonation [69, 70, 71], or chloride penetration along with moisture transport and the resulting reinforcement corrosion [6, 72, 73]. All of these phenomena cause deterioration and crack formation, which can amplify the entire damaging process besides crack development due to internal stresses [74] [75]. To the best of our knowledge, this process must be controlled in addition to the overall condition of the structure for safety, and reliability reasons starting with a proper concrete design.

2.2 Wave Propagation Theory in Heterogeneous Solids

A mechanical wave is characterized by oscillations of individual particles coupled to each other and the associated acoustic energy transport through a medium. Figure 4 (a) shows a sinusoidal oscillation of a single particle over time, represented by a mass connected to a spring that moves around a neutral position due to an initial deflection. The relationship between the force F acting on the particle and the deflection x is given by Hooke's law by means of a constant k for the spring.

$$F = -kx \tag{2.7}$$

The connection of an arbitrarily large set of masses to each other creates a simplified model of a homogeneous, elastic solid with Young's modulus E, where each particle is able to oscillate and transfer energy to the adjacent particles (Figure 4 (b)). In this model, a phase shift exists between the particles reached earlier and the ones that are reached with lag time. Assuming that the particle motion and the wave propagation have the identical direction, both compaction and dilution zones appear, and the resulting wave type is called a pressure wave. If the particle motion is, however, perpendicular to the direction of propagation, the result is a shear wave. These are the basic two types of waves that can appear in a solid body without any boundaries or interfaces.

Besides pure body waves, surface waves such as Rayleigh or Love waves form a group of waves, which propagate along an interface between differing media and diminish for increasing distance from the surface. Typically, they propagate slower than body waves but can have larger amplitudes [76].



Figure 4: (a) Sinusoidal oscillation of a linear spring according to Hooke's law with an initial deflection without attenuation effects. (b) Simpflified model of an elastic, homogeneous, and isotropic solid with particles connected by linear springs. In the model, the spring constant is equal to Young's modulus E [76].

Using Hooke's law and Newton's second law of inertia, the equation for wave propagation in elastic solids can be derived [77]. This equation describes the propagation of a sound wave in elastic media through the displacement of a particle.

$$\rho \frac{\partial^2 \vec{u}}{\partial t^2} = (\lambda + 2\mu) \nabla (\nabla \cdot \vec{u}) - \mu \nabla \times \nabla \times \vec{u}$$
(2.8)

In addition to theoretical solutions of Equation (2.8), e.g., for the P-wave in Equation (2.3a) and the S-wave in Equation (2.3b), numerical methods such as discrete element method or finite difference-based methods exist, which allow approximated solutions even for solids with a high degree of heterogeneity and geometrical boundaries. The basis for such simulations are realistic morphologies of the material, which reflect the elasticity and the moment of inertia for the elements of a discretized mesh. Figure 5 (a) shows a computationally generated mesostructure given an aggregate, pore, and crack distribution for a concrete cuboid [24, 23], e.g., using the concrete mesostructure generator pyCMG [78]. Figure 5 (b) [25] shows a simulation using the discrete element method of a complex ultrasonic wavefield between two embedded transducers in such a mesostructure.



Figure 5: (a) Computationally generated concrete model for mesoscale and multiscale simulations containing aggregates, cement paste, and air voids [23]. (b) Simulation of a complex wavefield between two transducers in a concrete model for damage identification using the discrete element method [25].

Sound waves in heterogeneous media can be excited either naturally, e.g., by crack formation in concrete, or by means of an artifical energy source. Assuming a point source, the energy spreads spherically from the source, and its intensity *I* decreases proportional to r^2 according to spherical divergence:

$$I \propto \frac{1}{r^2} \tag{2.9}$$

Since the intensity is proportional to the square of the amplitude *A* of the wave, the amplitude decays with the radius:

$$A \propto \frac{1}{r}$$
(2.10)

For the fully elastic model in Figure 4 (b), elastic waves can propagate without energy loss, and the amplitude decays only due to spherical divergence. However, heterogeneous media such as concrete exhibit attenuation effects, which amplify the amplitude decay over distance traveled. Attenuation is governed by the distinct physical phenomena intrinsic absorption and scattering. Intrinsic attenuation describes the conversion of the wave's mechanical energy into heat due to friction and changes in viscosity. Scattering effects occur at interfaces, at which the wave is split into reflected and transmitted wave modes. This effect intensifies for a large number of scatterers, creating long and complicated wave paths on which energy is converted as a result of absorption [77]. Altogether, the amplitude decay of elastic waves propagating in concrete can be described using a diffusion approach [79] or a radiative transfer approach [80]. Scattering in concrete increases particularly fast if the size of the scatterers, e.g., aggregates, pores, or cracks, is approximately as long as one-tenth of the wavelength [76]. Many scattering events consequently lead to complex and diffuse wavefields, as seen in Figure 5 (b). Since conventional techniques, based on the evaluation of unperturbed waveforms, often fail when used in heterogeneous media, a need for the development of backscattering techniques such as coda wave interferometry arises, which involves and simulaneously exploits the multiple scattering effects.

Attenuation also increases considerably with frequency, so that the reasonable range for elastic wave-based inspection, e.g., ultrasonic testing, is limited to a range of frequencies [81]. Four different regimes can be distinguished, which are described in greater detail in the following paragraphs [19]. Table 3 shows the frequency domains for concrete, including the assumed paths of an elastic wave, the regime name, the approximate range of relevant frequencies dependent on the particular concrete mix, and the dimensions of the wave and the structure.

The stationary wave regime is characterized by low frequencies below 20 kHz, in which the wavelength is greater or around equal to the size of the structure. Techniques operating in this regime, such as modal analysis, use the vibrational eigenmodes of the evaluated structure. These techniques are usually robust but less sensitive compared to techniques using higher frequencies. They can detect changes only by means of differing eigenmodes without explicitly resolving the material change due to the relatively large wavelengths.

The simple scattering regime covers waves that interact weakly with the concrete heterogeneities with frequencies between 10 kHz and 150 kHz. This range is considered to be the standard range for most ultrasonic testing techniques, in which the wavelength is smaller than the structure but still larger than the vast majority of the scatterers. The frequency range in the simple scattering regime aims at finding the balance between reasonable sensitivity to material changes on the one hand, and a wide volume coverage in the structure with a high signalto-noise ratio in the waveform due to low attenuation on the other hand.

In the multiple scattering regime, elastic waves interact strongly with the concrete heterogeneities at frequencies higher than 100 kHz, whereby the transition between the simple and the multiple scattering regimes and their respective frequency limits are smooth. The mesoscopic frequency range above around 100 kHz creates waveforms that can be described by random scattering. For such waveforms, the evaluation of the backscattered tail of the ultrasonic signal, the coda, becomes increasingly informative due to information reinforcement over a large number of wave paths. Table 3: The four frequency domains of ultrasound in concrete [19] with wave paths between a sender S and a receiver R. The stated frequency limits have large uncertainties because they depend on the geometrical dimensions of scatterers in concrete, e.g., aggregates, and air voids. The ultrasonic wavelength λ is compared to the specimen length L, the size of the heterogeneities d, the scattering mean free path l,and the intrinsic absorption characteristic length l_a .

Wave paths	Regime	Frequency	Dimensions	
S · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	Stationary wave regime	< 20 kHz	$\lambda > L$	
s · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	Simple scattering regime	10 kHz- 150 kHz	$d < \lambda < L < l_a$	
	Multiple scattering regime	100 kHz- 1 MHz	$\lambda < d \le l < L < l_a$	
S A C C C S	Attenuation regime	>1 MHz	$\lambda \ll L$	

The attenuation regime is characterized by frequencies above 1 MHz, for which elastic waves are strongly attenuated, and the wavelength is much smaller compared to the size of the structure. Consequently, the distances traveled by the waves become very small, and the structure size scales down to experiments in the laboratory.

2.3 Coda Wave Interferometry: State of the Art

2.3.1 Theory of Coda Wave Interferometry

Typical concrete structures include a large number of scatterers, in which NDT techniques based on direct or simple scattering assumptions fail. Therefore, frequencies in the multiple scattering regime can be selected using backscattering techniques such as coda wave interferometry for estimating nonlinear behavior in seismic velocity [18].

Coda waves refer to the late arriving tail of a waveform, which is strongly scat-

tered, and characterized by both a high degree of diffusivity and high sensitivity at the same time. Originally studied in the geophysical community as a result of small local earthquakes [15, 16, 82], coda waves were also proven to be sensitive to even weak material changes using ultrasound experiments [17].

In contrast to their chaotic and noisy appearance, e.g., in complicated waveforms, they were found to be highly reproducible and deterministic. Therefore, the medium in which coda waves propagate is often referred to as a seismic microscope, or interferometer, in which small changes between two states can be detected. The theory of coda wave interferometry is comprehensively summarized in the literature and is the basis for the following paragraphs [18].

The fundamental assumption of the theory of coda wave interferometry is path summation. Every given wavefield u(t) can be expressed by the sum of waves along all wave paths traveled $S_P(t)$ [83]. For any interpretation of the wavefield, this assumption implies that the individual wave paths do not have to be known exactly with respect to further considerations.

$$u(t) = \sum_{P} S_P(t) \tag{2.11}$$

Individual waveforms can be compared with each other, e.g., by choosing a late time window of the waveform, in which multiple scattering can be expected. Any perturbation between two waveforms consequently indicates a perturbation in the medium. As long as the scattering properties in the medium do not change, the perturbation can be assigned to displacements of the scatterers, e.g., by a change of the path length δl or the introduction of new scatterers.

The perturbed wavefield is given by an adaption of Equation (2.11) by a change in travel time τ_P , induced by a phase change. This theory holds true as long as the scattering mean free path is considerably larger than a single wavelength [18].

$$\tilde{u}(t) = \sum_{P} S_P(t - \tau_P)$$
(2.12)

The magnitude of the change in travel time depends on the scattering path P, whereby the chosen time window for the waveform limits the evaluated paths. The perturbed waveform can be compared to a reference waveform, as in Figure 6, by means of the time-shifted correlation coefficient $CC(t_s)$ using a finite time window between t_1 and t_2 [18]. Here, t_s is the time shift between the compared waveforms.

$$CC(t_s) = \frac{\int_{t_1}^{t_2} u(t)\tilde{u}(t+t_s) dt}{\sqrt{\int_{t_1}^{t_2} u^2(t) dt \int_{t_1}^{t_2} \tilde{u}^2(t+t_s) dt}}$$
(2.13)



Figure 6: Ultrasonic signal in concrete under tension compared to a reference signal at an unloaded state, evaluated within the time window between t_1 and t_2 . The load induces a perturbation in travel time that accumulates over time. The change can be resolved and determined increasingly well for late arrivals in the coda.

Equation (2.13) was developed considering doublet techniques that are able to measure temporal variations of crustal velocities based on comparing pairs of microearthquakes using a moving time window and computing differences in arrival times [84, 85]. However, greater stability is reached for velocity-based evaluation of any perturbation. Using the wave velocity v in a medium and the unperturbed travel time t_P , the change in travel time τ_P can be related to a relative velocity perturbation dv.

$$t_P + \tau_P = \int_P \frac{1}{v + dv} ds \tag{2.14}$$

The state of the art of comparing two ultrasonic waveforms in concrete is the stretching technique [86] using the velocity change dv/v. The evaluated waveform is stretched in time by a factor $\varepsilon = -dv/v$, while simultaneously computing a correlation between the stretched and the reference waveform. For a maximum correlation, the stretching factor can be indicated:

$$CC(\varepsilon) = \frac{\int_{t_1}^{t_2} u(t)\tilde{u}(t(1-\varepsilon)) dt}{\sqrt{\int_{t_1}^{t_2} u^2(t) dt \int_{t_1}^{t_2} \tilde{u}^2(t(1-\varepsilon)) dt}}$$
(2.15)

Finally, it should be noted that the travel time is, in fact, the average arrival time of the waves that arrive in a finite time window, and t_P can therefore be replaced with *t*. Furthermore, the inferred velocity change is also the weighted average of velocity changes in both elastic wave types, the P-wave, and S-wave [17],

whereby the sensitivity of the coda is generally governed by changes in the S-wave velocity [16].

Furthermore, any perturbation between two waveforms not only induces a phase change but also wave significant waveform distortion due to attenuation effects, i.e., a change of the waveform. The quantification of this effect using the quality factor Q is further described, and discussed in Chapter 3.2.2.

2.3.2 Effects of State Changes on the Coda

Coda wave interferometry was the subject of numerous studies in the area of concrete monitoring since its sensitivity even to weak changes was proven [17, 18]. Various effects on the velocity change of coda waves were characterized such as temperature [87, 88] or mechanical loads [89, 90, 91, 92, 93], and even typical concrete phenomena, e.g., freeze-thaw attack [94], self-healing [95], or alkali silica reaction [96]. The effect of moisture changes in concrete on the velocity variation using CWI is hardly studied, probably because of the large amount of time required to systematically collect experimental data due to slow transport processes in concrete. However, water content affects ultrasound propagation in concrete [97, 98] and must therefore be considered when comparing ultrasonic waveforms by means of CWI, at least for signals that are far apart in time.

Although single impacts on the velocity variation can be characterized, the separation of the individual effects is hardly discussed but becomes indispensable when distinguishing the sources of the perturbation in the investigated medium, i.e., the state change. For on-site application of CWI, this is becoming increasingly important because structures are exposed to several influencing variables at the same time.

Nevertheless, approaches exist to determine the effect of various simultaneously acting variables on concrete specimens in the laboratory. Using the example of external mechanical stress, the acoustoelastic effect [46, 99, 100] provides the relationship between the applied uniaxial stress in *z*-direction σ_{zz} compared to a reference state with wave velocity v_{ij}^0 , and velocity in the medium v_{ij} using acousto-elastic constants A_{ij} in the elastic regime.

$$v_{ij} = v_{ij}^0 (1 + A_{ij}\sigma_{zz})$$
(2.16)

Figure 7 illustrates the relationship between the velocity change and a stress change when experimental data is available and a regression can be performed.



State change, e.g., stress σ [MPa]

Figure 7: Relative velocity change for a state change, adapted from [19]. The relationship, for which structural integrity is assured, can be obtained by a regression of experimentally determined data. For an external uniaxial load on a concrete structure, the velocity change is linearly coupled to the load by the acoustoelastic constant **A** stating a linear relationship.

Calibration using a regression analysis only becomes possible as soon as experiments can be conducted and further considerable interactions are excluded in the data. In this case, any values for the velocity change that deviate too much from the calculated regression values can be considered as an indicator for damage. However, the location of the boundary to which extent deviations from the regression are considered to be still acceptable is difficult to indicate and currently not precisely specified.

Any additional variable affecting the structure such as temperature would have to be compensated to apply Equation (2.16) because it only depends on the applied stress. Therefore, a bias control technique was proposed to compensate for additional effects and the bias originating from experimental procedures on the velocity variation using a reference specimen for each additional effect [101, 102]. This approach is very well suited for structures on the laboratory scale, but both the collection of experimental data, and the compensation using a reference specimen with identical behavior regarding wave velocity changes can be challenging in practice. The study presented here aims at determining experiment-based relationships, using a consistent concrete mix to explore the impacts on the velocity change and to prepare a coherent dataset for modeling and wave propagation simulations in arbitrary concrete mixes in order to separate the individual effects from each other.

3 Impact of Temperature and Relative Humidity Variations on Coda Waves in Concrete ¹

Abstract - The microstructure of concrete can be affected by many factors, from nondestructive environmental factors through to destructive damage induced by transient stresses. Coda wave interferometry is a technique that is sensitive enough to detect weak changes within concrete by evaluating the ultrasonic signal perturbation compared to a reference state. As concrete microstructure is sensitive to many factors, it is important to separate their contributions to the observables. In this study, we characterize the relationships between the concrete elastic and anelastic properties, and temperature and relative humidity. We confirm previous theoretical studies that found a linear relationship between temperature changes and seismic velocity variations for a given concrete mix, and provide scaling factors per Kelvin for multiple settings. We also confirm an anti-correlation with relative humidity using long-term conditioning. Furthermore, we explore beyond the existing studies to establish the relationship linking humidity and temperature changes to seismic attenuation. Lastly, we formulate a model for the combined impact of temperature and relative humidity on the signal velocity variation.

¹ This article was published in the peer-reviewed journal *Scientific Reports* by *Nature Research* on 14 August 2024. This chapter is the originally submitted version, which was accepted by the Technical University of Munich. The authors' work share is listed in Appendix 2.

3.1 Introduction

Today, large parts of the built environment are made from structural concrete. The safety of these structures is, in most cases, secured during regular, but often only annual, inspections rather than using continuous monitoring. Thus, these maintenance strategies rely on information from an ideally full update of the structures' integrity on discrete inspection dates. In contrast, monitoring techniques have the advantage of continuously detecting structural changes and, therefore, allow preventive action to be initiated at an early stage before critical damage occurs. One recent and promising technique for monitoring heterogeneous media such as concrete is Coda Wave Interferometry (CWI) [84, 17, 18]. CWI leverages the fact that scattered waves propagate multiple times in perturbed media, summing the perturbations and changing the arrival times of waves relative to a reference state.

Multiple laboratory-scale studies have shown the technique's potential to monitor microstructural changes in concrete as a consequence of external mechanical loads [103, 104, 105, 106] or due to temperature changes [107, 87]. Furthermore, time-dependent concrete-specific phenomena can be characterized using CWI, e.g., the alkali-silica reaction [108] or freeze-thaw damage [94]. Naturally, some of these investigations have been extended to large-scale concrete structures [109, 110, 34, 35, 31], where CWI's potential has been proven under controlled environmental conditions.

Besides its high sensitivity to even weak changes in the material, one of the biggest challenges for CWI today is the simultaneous occurrence of condition changes that cause superimposed terms contributing to the velocity variation. The separation of these terms is often difficult under practical conditions because changes in environmental conditions can occur simultaneously (e.g., winters are wetter and colder in the mid-latitudes). This applies especially to interpreting the effect of transient changes, e.g., due to stresses or damage, because environmental temperature or humidity changes may induce a bias in measuring the ultrasonic signals' phase lag [111, 112, 113, 114].

In on-site applications, one specific challenge arises from the time-limited evaluation period (often only hours) because this is required so that only one parameter is changing [19]. However, to link the impact of temperature and damage, nonlinear ultrasonic techniques have been suggested either to link the influence of damage on ultrasonic waves using thermal modulation [115] or to compensate for temperature effects using a thermal bias control by comparing the temperature-induced perturbation of test and reference specimens [101, 102]. In our study, we address the necessity of separating the superimposed effects of environmental conditions affecting every concrete structure, i.e., temperature and relative humidity changes, on the speed at which seismic waves propagate. We detected the changes in the coda waves using long-term equilibrium experiments and remained in the non-destructive regime to avoid having to address any additional impact of damage on the velocity variation. We separated the individual effects of temperature and relative humidity from each other and proposed a third-order polynomial regression model for their combined effects to predict velocity variations.

The specimens are a normal concrete mix, which is described in detail in [24, 23]. In addition to elastic wavespeed perturbations, monitoring the scattering properties of the materials, by measurements of amplitude decay in the coda waves, may be useful because the amplitude decay is particularly sensitive to damage. Therefore, we also demonstrate the changes in anelastic seismic properties (attenuation and scattering) in the seismic quality factor Q [15, 16] for both temperature and relative humidity variations.

3.2 Materials and Methods

3.2.1 Coda Wave Interferometry

Coda wave interferometry is based on comparing deterministic and reproducible ultrasonic waveforms propagating in a heterogeneous medium along multiply scattered paths [19]. Any change in the medium's scattering properties causes a perturbation of the waveform compared to the original, unperturbed waveform. Even weak changes can accumulate over many repeated wave paths between a sender-receiver pair and can be detected in late coda waves through phase differences, which can be expressed as a velocity perturbation dv/v of the ultrasonic signal, i.e., the velocity variation. The velocity variation is deduced from a linear regression of the time delay, which increases over signal time t, and the measurements of phase differences, dt. It is, therefore, most significant when measured in late windows that record scattered waves called the ultrasonic coda.

Multiple methods for CWI analysis have recently been proposed [17, 116, 117, 118], based on deriving a stretching factor $\varepsilon = dt/t = -dv/v$ from the calculation of a maximum signal correlation coefficient *CC* between a reference signal u(t) and a perturbed signal $\tilde{u}(t)$. Here, t_1 and t_2 mark the time window in which the velocity change is derived. In this study, we use the stretching technique [116] to determine relative velocity changes dv/v in the medium according to Equation (3.1).

3 Impact of Temperature and Relative Humidity Variations on Coda Waves in Concrete

$$CC(\varepsilon) = \frac{\int_{t_1}^{t_2} u(t)\tilde{u}(t(1-\varepsilon)) dt}{\sqrt{\int_{t_1}^{t_2} u^2(t) dt \int_{t_1}^{t_2} \tilde{u}^2(t(1-\varepsilon)) dt}}$$
(3.1)

The ultrasonic signals were preprocessed and were effectively noise-free. We refer to [119] for details regarding the preprocessing procedure, where the value of $CC(\varepsilon)$ generally depends on the signal-to-noise ratio and the evaluated time-window. The cross-correlation coefficient and velocity variation were computed across the entire duration of each experiment using a window length of 2,500 samples, equal to 2.5 ms.

3.2.2 Quality Factor

The quality factor Q describes the fractional loss of energy of an ultrasonic signal arriving at a receiver position. As such, it is a parameter representing the attenuation properties of a medium in a single backscattering model and was originally studied to evaluate the attenuation of coda waves from small local earthquakes [15, 16]. It is dimensionless, frequency-dependent, and can be expressed as in Equation (3.2), which is valid for both the single scattering and diffusion theories. The amplitude of an ultrasonic signal $A(\omega|t)$ at a frequency around ω over a time t is expressed by a source term c, which is constant for a uniform excitation. The constant a accounts for geometrical spreading, where a = 1 is generally assumed for body waves.

$$A(\omega|t) = ct^{-a}e^{-\omega t/2Q} \tag{3.2}$$

As we use embedded sensors, we can assume that the ultrasonic coda waves are mainly energy transported by body waves. We can rewrite the equation by replacing ω with the frequency *f*, around which the signal is filtered.

$$A(f|t) = ct^{-1}e^{-\pi ft/Q}$$
(3.3)

By transforming the equation, the right side of Equation (3.4) can be interpreted as a linear function with a negative slope of $\pi f/Q$.

$$\ln\left[A(f|t)t\right] = \ln c - \frac{\pi f}{Q}t \tag{3.4}$$

The procedure for deriving Q is illustrated in Figure 8 for an ultrasonic signal, where the root mean square of the amplitude is the basis for linear regression, starting from the maximum amplitude of the filtered signal.



Figure 8: Procedure for deriving the quality factor Q using the signal's root mean square [120]. Starting from the preprocessed signal, the signal is further filtered around a central frequency f, e.g., 60 kHz with a bandwidth of ±20 kHz. An approximation for Q according to Equation (3.4) is the slope of the linear regression using the root mean square of the signal amplitude A for a constant f.

The computation of Q according to Equation (3.2) is affected by reflections at geometrical boundaries that can be observed in the form of periodic wave packages in the root mean square in Figure 8. Q is lapse-time dependent [121], which we do not explore here. Therefore, our absolute estimate of Q is rather uncertain and we focus on the relative measurements.

3.2.3 Materials

We produced two batches of concrete specimens with constant cement content and aggregate size distributions (Table 4). Only the water-cement ratio was varied, inducing an increased pore space volume within the cement paste matrix for greater values of w/c. The cement used in both mixes was Ordinary Portland Cement *CEM142.5 R* and the aggregates were primarily quartzitic and crushed. To decrease the viscosity of the fresh concrete and enhance the coupling of the embedded sensors, we added 2.4% of polycarboxylatether-based superplasticizer to the concrete with w/c = 0.45. A standardized pressure method test yielded an air void content of 2.0% air voids for w/c = 0.45 and 0.8% air voids for w/c = 0.60 in the fresh concrete. After production, the specimens were covered with water-retaining jute mats for 24 h and further cured under water for more than 100 d. The levels of chemical and autogenous shrinkage were minimal due to the high degree of hydration [122, 123] and thus negligible for the subsequent experiment. However, drying shrinkage along with carbonation shrinkage [124, 125] are significant while decreasing the relative humidity as part of the experimental setup and are discussed later in the article.

Table 4: Raw materials and their composition for the two concrete mixes with w/c = 0.45 and w/c = 0.60, where the aggregates are primarily quartzitic and crushed. The cement type is CEM142.5 R and the superplasticizer is BASF MasterEase 3880.

Cement Content	Water / Cement	Aggregate Size				Superplasticizer
CEM I 42.5 R	w/c	0/2 mm	2/5 mm	5/8 mm	8/16 mm	BASF ME 3880
350 kg/m ³	0.45	40 %	12%	29 %	19%*	2.4 %**
350 kg/m ³	0.60	40 %	12%	29 %	19%*	0

* Contains 1.2 % oversized grains 16.0/22.4 mm.

** As a mass fraction in % of the cement content.

3.2.4 Experimental Setup

To investigate the impact of both temperature and relative humidity on the ultrasonic coda, we varied the ambient parameters temperature T_{amb} and relative humidity RH_{amb} while monitoring the concrete specimens' internal condition using embedded sensors and mass tracking. The set of ambient and embedded sensors, together with the geometrical setup, is presented in Figure 9 (a). It consisted of ambient temperature and relative humidity sensors in the climate chamber and an embedded Pt100 element for temperature T [°C] measurement positioned at the center of each specimen. Strain gauges (*PL-60-11-3LJCT-F*) with a gauge resistance of $R = 120 \Omega$ and a length of l = 60 mm, applied to the surface on two opposite sides and implemented as a quarter bridge, tracked the strain. In addition, the mass m of specimens from the same batch was continuously tracked. Three specimens were monitored for each T, m, and the ultrasonic signals.

The ultrasonic signals were retrieved from symmetrically positioned embedded transducers, each at a distance of 300 mm from the center axis (Figure 9 (a)), which act as sender-receiver pairs with a center frequency of 62 kHz [91], proposed for CWI in concrete structures [126]. The measurement system [127] continuously samples signals with a length of 12,000 samples at a rate of 1 MHz and a 14 bit resolution.

Figure 9 (b) shows the experimental setup of concrete specimens with embedded sensors in the climate chamber. Additional specimens without any measurement equipment are regularly weighed to track changes in mass, i.e., water loss. Each specimen set, for the ultrasonic measurements, for the temperature and strain measurements, and for the mass tracking contained three specimens.



Figure 9: (a) The geometry of the specimens for all conducted investigations is a cuboid with an edge length of 400 mm and a square cross-section of 100 x 100 mm² For both concrete mixes (w/c = [0.45, 0.60]), three specimens are equipped with ultrasonic transducers and another three specimens with a Pt100 element (T). The specimens' mass m is monitored for three further specimens. (b) Photograph of the experimental setup in the climate chamber at controlled ambient temperature T_{amb} and relative humidity RH_{amb}.

The experimental variations in temperature and relative humidity had to be chosen carefully because several mechanisms other than the non-destructive boundaries trigger damage in the concrete matrix, thus contributing to superimposed changes in the ultrasonic velocity.
Several processes can introduce damage on a microstructural level due to thermal loading [128]. These can be physicochemical processes, i.e., the decomposition of hydrates [129], by microchemically induced cracking in the interfacial transition zone between the aggregates and the cement paste due to differential dilation [130], by drying shrinkage due to differential strains [131], by increasing vapor pressure [132] or by their gradients [133]. When elevating the temperature, ettringite is the first hydrate phase to decompose. It is a crystalline thermally unstable component of Portland cement, and the decomposition of its phase-pure form is discussed in the literature for combinations of temperature and vapor pressure [134].

We varied the temperature between $55 \,^{\circ}$ C and $2 \,^{\circ}$ C, while the relative humidity was modulated between $95 \,^{\circ}$ RH and $35 \,^{\circ}$ RH avoiding any ettringite decomposition. Further decomposition mechanisms beyond the stated temperatures and relative humidity do not apply because the study's objective is to determine the relations in the non-destructive regime.

Figure 10 presents the modulation of the external control variables T_{amb} and RH_{amb} in the climate chamber together with the specimens' mass changes Δm , where the starting conditions are 95 % RH at 20 °C. The relative humidity is held constant at a temperature of 20 °C until the mass change decreases below a threshold of 0.05 % per week. After reaching a nearly constant mass, we assumed a constant water saturation in the concrete matrix and introduced a stepwise temperature variation starting at 55 °C. We decreased the temperature in 5 °C steps with a last step of 3 °C down to a minimum of 2 °C. Each temperature was held for a 5 h duration to condition the entire specimen at the same temperature, validated by equalization of the temperature of the embedded central sensor with the ambient temperature. After the temperature variation, the relative humidity was decreased by 15% until a final step that reached 35% RH. The monitored strain matched the predicted strain from the model according to *DIN EN 1992-1-1* [135]. We conclude that drying shrinkage is responsible for the measured strain in our experiment.

3.3 Results

3.3.1 Temperature Impact on the Coda

Ultrasonic measurements were conducted as the temperature was varied between 55 °C and 2 °C once the specimens had reached a constant relative humidity state, which was validated by their steady mass. The results for each relative humidity state are plotted in Figure 11 for two concrete mixes with dif-



Figure 10: Experimental measurements with the ambient and embedded control variables T and RH. The mass losses Δm for both specimen series w/c = 0.45 and w/c = 0.60 were monitored weekly, and daily immediately after each temperature variation cycle. Strains $\Delta l/l$ were monitored throughout the experiment based on the mean of readings taken from two strain gauges (quarter bridges) and compared to a model for drying shrinkage according to DIN EN 1992-1-1 [135]. Throughout the experiment, the velocity variations dv/v were computed based on Equation (3.1).

ferent w/c ratios. Their standard deviations, σ , and linear regressions are also shown. The slopes of the regression are indicated as the velocity variation per Kelvin, while the reference signal, used to normalize the velocity variation values, was selected at 20 °C for each temperature variation cycle.



Figure 11: Velocity variation dv/v of the ultrasonic signals plotted against temperature for the two concrete mixes with w/c = 0.45 and w/c = 0.60. Dots represent the data points, whereas the dashed line is a linear regression for each data set. The R^2 values are all greater than 0.985 for all mixes and states. The transparent fill shows the standard deviation σ for all three specimens. The reference signals are selected approximately at a temperature T of approximately $20 \,^{\circ}$ C.

For both investigated concrete mixes, the slope of the velocity variation plots steadily decreases as the relative humidity decreases, because the degree of saturation is lower. However, we note a larger gap between maximum and min-

imum slopes for the mix with w/c = 0.60. The difference between the two mixes is particularly notable at higher saturation levels. As the mixes only differ in the ratio w/c, we can derive an interdependency between the change in the slope and the concrete's pore system. The pore volume, as well as the portion of the water stored in it, and the average pore size are larger for w/c = 0.60. For this concrete, more water evacuates from the pore system in between the temperature cycles due to more dynamic water transport processes, thus resulting in an increase in the slope.

3.3.2 Relative Humidity Impact on the Coda

Only constant-state ultrasonic signals, validated by a nearly constant mass, were evaluated to derive the relationship between the velocity variations and the relative humidity of the specimens. We intentionally ignored the transition times between humidity regimes in order to ignore fluid diffusion processes and focus on steady-state regimes. Figure 12 shows, for both concrete mixes, the correlation between dv/v and RH at a constant temperature T = 20 °C for ten signals immediately before each temperature variation cycle as depicted in Figure 10.



Figure 12: Velocity variation dv/v of the ultrasonic signals plotted against relative humidity for the two concrete mixes with w/c = 0.45 and w/c = 0.60. Dots represent the data points, where the standard deviations for the ten signals collected at half-hourly intervals are smaller than the dots in this figure.

For both mixes, the reference signals, used to normalize the velocity variation values, were chosen at 65 % RH. Figure 12 shows similar trends for both mixes: dv/v decreases with increasing concrete relative humidity until a value of 80 % is reached. The value at 95 % RH is an exception for both mixes because in this state, almost all pores are filled and dv/v is higher than at 80 % RH. Once again, the mix with w/c = 0.60 exhibits larger differences between the *RH* states, which we interpret as a consequence of a higher pore volume and more extensive transport processes.

3.3.3 Combined Impact of Temperature and Relative Humidity

The results from Figure 11 and Figure 12 with variations of only one impact variable form the basis for investigations on the combined effect of temperature and relative humidity on the coda for a variable w/c ratio. Data from both sets were matched for $T = 20 \,^{\circ}C$, where we defined a boundary condition in Equation (3.5).

$$dv/v (T = 20 °C | RH = 65 \%) = 0$$
(3.5)

Using polynomial regression, the measurement data were fitted to the following third-order polynomial over three variables, the water-to-cement ratio w/c, the temperature T, and relative humidity RH (Equation (3.6)). This fitting procedure uses the data for compensation when analyzing ultrasonic measurements and evaluating them under varying ambient conditions.

$$dv/v = \sum_{i=0}^{j=3} \sum_{j=0}^{j=3} \sum_{k=0}^{k=3} a_{ijk} \left(\frac{w}{c}\right)^i T^j R H^k$$
(3.6)

In the above equation, a_{ijk} refers to the polynomial coefficients that were fitted to the measurement data. The corresponding values are provided in Table 5 in the appendix. The predictions of the model for values of the temperature, relative humidity, and water-to-cement ratios for the whole range of values within which the measurement data is available are shown in Figure 13. We provide the metrics of the model fit, where the R^2 value is 0.999, and the mean-squared error is 1.5604×10^{-7} . The above polynomial equation was obtained using the ordinary least squares method by performing linear regression on the polynomial features. The sklearn python package was used for performing the regression. To identify the most sensitive components of the polynomial, the dataset was standardized using the mean μ and the standard deviation σ in Equation (3.7).

$$x' = \frac{x - \mu(x)}{\sigma(x)} \tag{3.7}$$

The following expression (Equation (3.8)) for the relative velocity change ignores terms that are one order of magnitude smaller than the largest coefficient. The relative velocity change is most sensitive to the relative humidity, then the temperature, and finally, the water-to-cement ratio.

$$\left(\frac{dv}{v}\right)' \propto 0.26T' - 0.50RH' - 0.36RH' \left(\frac{w}{c}\right)' + (0.26T' - 0.49RH') \left(\frac{w}{c}\right)'^2 + 0.14RH'^3$$
(3.8)



Figure 13: Contour plots of the velocity variation dv/v for four water-to-cement ratios dependent on temperature and relative humidity. The plots for w/c = 0.45 and w/c = 0.60 are based on measurements, while the plots for w/c = 0.50 and w/c = 0.55 are predictions of the third-order polynomial model. The lines in the plots are iso-lines of constant relative velocity variation.

3.3.4 Impact on the Quality Factor

The quality factor Q was computed based on the procedure in Figure 8 using Equation (3.2). First, Q was evaluated as a function of T for three specimens at two central frequencies (Figure 14): 60 kHz, which is approximately the resonance frequency of the sensor, and 90 kHz, which is still considered to be in the simple scattering regime of concrete [126]. Both signal filters had a bandwidth of 20 kHz around the central frequency.



Figure 14: Quality factor Q for temperature variations for the two concrete mixes with w/c = 0.45 and w/c = 0.60, each preconditioned at RH = 65%. Q was evaluated for two central frequencies 60 kHz and 90 kHz.

For both concrete mixes, Q generally decreased for higher temperatures. Thus, the signal attenuation increased for both frequencies with increasing temperature. Q was reduced by about 40 between $10 \,^{\circ}$ C and $50 \,^{\circ}$ C for both compositions. If the absolute values of Q are not interpretable due to multiple wave reflections in the specimen, the interpretation of the changes in Q should still be reliable. Additionally, we obtain a similar, continuous, decreasing trend in Q for increasing relative humidity for both frequencies and both mixes. The more saturated the pore space, the higher is the attenuation of the ultrasonic signals (Figure 15). Q has a significantly higher spread in values than when the temperature is varied: values of Q differ around 115% over the measured humidity range. Therefore, the sensitivity of attenuation to relative humidity is much stronger than the temperature sensitivity.



Figure 15: Quality factor Q for relative humidity variations for the two concrete mixes with w/c = 0.45and w/c = 0.60 at a constant temperature of 20°C. Q was evaluated for two center frequencies 60 kHz and 90 kHz.

To show the sensitivity of the attenuation properties to T,RH, and w/c, we provide a standardized polynomial expression using the computed quality factors in the identical parameter space as used in Equation (3.8). For both increasing temperature and relative humidity, we identify a negative correlation with Q, thus, increasing attenuation.

$$Q \propto \left(-0.18T' - 0.38RH'\right) \left(1 + \left(\frac{w}{c}\right)'^2\right) + 0.14T \cdot RH' - 0.11T'^2 + 0.18RH'^2$$
 (3.9)

Despite the dependence in Q with lag time, frequency, and window length, this relation is the first to suggest a coupling of the temperature and humidity effects in affecting attenuation. Recent work from [136] also shows the negative correlation between Q and T and water content in sandstone. Their correlations exhibit strong dependence on the pore space of the sample, which is suggested and formulated by our regression.

3.4 Discussion

We evaluated non-destructive and reversible state changes in concrete using CWI, a technique characterized by high precision and sensitivity. Further, we evaluated the monitoring of anelastic properties in ultrasonic attenuation. We explored these states by changing the most commonly varying environmental factors, namely temperature and relative humidity. We found that temperature profoundly influenced ultrasonic speed and relative humidity on attenuation. Where changes in ultrasonic velocity dv/v due to temperature are concerned,

our results are comparable with previous studies to within an order of magnitude [107, 137], although the values for the regression slopes (Figure 11) are slightly smaller in our study. The relationship between temperature and dv/vis guasi-linear for the same water-to-cement ratio, and simple linear regressions all show high R²-values, all above 0.985, confirming an accurate fit to the experimental data. In our experimental design, we ensured a homogeneous temperature distribution over the entire volume of the specimens with embedded sensors and therefore avoided the influence of gradients in the material. Thanks to the relative humidity control of the climate chamber during the temperature variation and the relatively short duration of the temperature cycles. slightly more than two days, we minimized the effect of drying at the geometrical edges, which otherwise amplifies a hysteresis between cooling and heating cycles [137]. The impact of near-edge drying on dv/v is difficult to guantify and decreases for larger concrete sample geometries and greater distances between the structural edges and the sensors, where at least the first factor is generally the case for real civil engineering structures.

We also evaluated the impact of relative humidity variations on the material. We increased the experiment time significantly due to the slow diffusion transport processes in the concrete's pore system. We validated a relative humidity distribution that was sufficiently constant to meet our requirements by measuring changes in the mass of specimens, which is a precise and reliable measurement method. Nevertheless, we assume minor relative humidity gradients in the material decrease from the core. These gradients, however, still exist after years of conditioning, and we consider the introduced mass change threshold as a valid criterion for a nearly constant relative humidity distribution.

In addition, we compared the theoretical drying shrinkage (negative volumetric strains) based on *DIN EN1992-1-1* with our strain measurements in Figure 10. It could be demonstrated that the measured strain was approximately equal to the predicted strain, and no further substantial strain change was expected for each state. We consider that the separation of the impact of strain on dv/v, induced by drying shrinkage, and the pure impact of water saturation of the concrete's pore system, induced by varying relative humidity, is unnecessary because the two effects always occur simultaneously.

Interpreting the results in Figure 12, we find a steady decrease of dv/v for an increase of water in the pore system up to 80 % RH. This trend is disrupted for the highest saturation at 95 % RH, where dv/v increases compared to the previous state. Additionally, the evaluation of the quality factor Q yielded a steady increase in attenuation for all investigated states as relative humidity increases (Figure 15). In addition, the ultrasonic signal correlation between 65 % RH and 95 % RH shows a relatively small CC of approximately 0.6. In contrast, all

other signals below 80 % RH as used in plotting Figure 12, have a CC > 0.8. Investigating the ultrasonic waveforms, we found a strong attenuation of the shear wave for high saturation, which we explain as due to the presence of fully saturated pores. As coda waves are dominated by S waves [138], the strong attenuation may induce significant waveform distortion such that the stretching technique suffers from cycle skipping. Figure 10 shows a jump in the CC values between 95 % RH and 80 % RH that is not observed for the later step-decrease in relative humidity. CWI often measures confidence using CC values. As a result of this high uncertainty in interpreting the dv/v measurements at such high saturation, we excluded the 95 % RH state from the polynomial model in Figure 13. Typically in seismological research, the contributions of the temperature and relative humidity effects are summed in a linear combination to explain dv/v[111, 139], though these relations have strong spatial heterogeneity [114, 113]. Here we noticed a change in sensitivity to temperature depending on the relative humidity. Hence, we recast the problem using a polynomial regression model to perform linear regression on the polynomial features. The polynomial features are the model variables, i.e., the water-to-cement ratio, the temperature, relative humidity, and their powers up to a polynomial degree of 3. Due to the specificity of the experimental setup, we are not interpreting the absolute values of the coefficients. We propose a way to solve for relative humidity and temperature given the two seismic observables dv/v and Q. Furthermore, we can interpret that the relations are not strictly linear if one compares materials with different porous properties. As the model is an analytical model, an analysis of the sensitivity of the relative velocity change to the ambient conditions and the water-to-cement ratio can be performed. The model can readily compensate for ambient conditions when performing damage detection in concrete structures under non-standard weather conditions. It should be noted that the model cannot be extrapolated and must only be used within the limits of the experimental measurements, especially since we noted a strong sensitivity of dv/v to large RH values. As an alternative to the approach used here, we tested a Gaussian Process Regression and found a good fit. However, the lack of interpretability hindered the characterization of the physical processes.

3.5 Conclusions

The objective of our study was to derive relationships between the ambient variables temperature and relative humidity, and changes in ultrasonic signals in concrete evaluated using Coda wave interferometry and attenuation measurements. Thanks to our experimental design, we were first able to establish onedimensional relationships for the sole variation of either temperature or relative humidity.

We confirmed the findings of previous studies [107, 137], which demonstrated an approximately linear effect of temperature variation on the velocity variation of ultrasonic signals. Furthermore, we extended these investigations to include the impact of relative humidity variations. We were able to show that the stretching method is an appropriate and sensitive method for measuring the velocity variation of the signals for state changes between 30 % RH and 80 % RH. However, our measurements only had a low confidence level based on the signal correlation coefficient for the state at 95 % RH, where the concrete's pore system is highly saturated with water. We hypothesized that the signal perturbations were too large and caused decreasing confidence in CWI for the highly saturated state. We substantiated this hypothesis by introducing the quality factor to study the signal attenuation, particularly sensitive to microstructure and its damage. Its evaluation showed a decreasing value of the quality factor (e.g., an increase in attenuation) for a higher degree of relative humidity. The steady trend for the analysis of Q finally reinforced the presumed low confidence for the particular data point at very high saturation.

As we observe changes in both temperature and relative humidity in natural settings, we extended our investigations with a polynomial model that accounts for the simultaneous variation of both variables. Furthermore, we embedded the water-to-cement ratio into our model, which defines the characteristics of the concrete pore system. For a higher w/c ratio, we expect a greater pore volume and, therefore, faster dynamics regarding the fluid transport processes in the material. We could confirm this assumption by explicitly analyzing the velocity variation of the ultrasonic signal, which showed greater sensitivity to temperature and relative humidity changes for a greater water-to-cement ratio (i.e., greater pore space). Considering all three variables leads to our model being of the third order.

Evaluating the changes in phase and amplitude of ultrasonic signals in concrete allows the detection of even weak changes induced by ambient conditions. To subsequently detect irreversible changes or damage in the framework of an early-warning system, we conclude that the proportion of velocity and attenuation variation changes, generated by ambient variables, can be characterized and hence compensated. For the separation of temperature-induced changes, we consider the simultaneous monitoring of *T* using embedded sensors to be the most elegant way of controlling its impact on dv/v, while the observation over a period that covers the typical temperature range, may be sufficient for deriving the dv/v(T) relationship because of its linearity. Regarding the impact of the relative humidity on dv/v, the change is slow and only visible over a long-term perspective. However, changes in Q are significant, and attenuation may be used instead of dv/v to compensate for relative humidity. Therefore, we propose an ambient seismic field approach to monitoring the internal state of concrete that will provide a more accurate assessment if or when structural damage occurs.

Appendix Chapter 3 – Polynomial Model Coefficients

Table 5: List of coefficients of the third order polynomial obtained by polynomial regression.

n	a[ijk]	i	j	k
0	-1.235967e-01	0	0	0
1	9.621853e-02	1	0	0
2	3.631449e-04	0	1	0
3	5.107886e-03	0	0	1
4	1.344006e-01	2	0	0
5	1.380768e-04	1	1	0
6	-2.651369e-03	1	0	1
7	-1.546802e-06	0	2	0
8	-2.261435e-06	0	1	1
9	-7.619478e-05	0	0	2
10	1.151416e-01	3	0	0
11	4.693153e-05	2	1	0
12	-4.163067e-03	2	0	1
13	-7.605707e-06	1	2	0
14	5.858475e-06	1	1	1
15	2.860905e-05	1	0	2
16	1.809416e-08	0	3	0
17	9.979734e-08	0	2	1
18	-3.073448e-08	0	1	2
19	3.765474e-07	0	0	3

4 Impact of External Mechanical Loads on Coda Waves in Concrete²

Abstract - During their life span. concrete structures interact with many kinds of external mechanical loads. Most of these loads are considered in advance and result in reversible deformations. Nevertheless, some of the loads cause irreversible, sometimes unnoticed changes below the macroscopic scale depending on the type and dimension of the impact. As the functionality of concrete structures is often relevant to safety and society, their condition must be known and, therefore, assessed on a regular basis. Out of the spectrum of non-destructive monitoring methods, Coda Wave Interferometry using embedded ultrasonic sensors is one particularly sensitive technique to evaluate changes to heterogeneous media. However, there are various influences on Coda waves in concrete, and the interpretation of their superimposed effect is ambiguous. In this study, we quantify the relations of uniaxial compression and uniaxial tension on Coda waves propagating in normal concrete. We found that both the signal correlation of ultrasonic signals as well as their velocity variation directly reflect the stress change in concrete structures in a laboratory environment. For the linear elastic range up to 30 % of the strength, we calculated a velocity variation of -0.97% /MPa for compression and 0.33 %/MPa for tension using linear regression. In addition, these parameters revealed even weak irreversible changes after removal of the load. Furthermore, we show the time-dependent effects of shrinkage and creep on Coda waves by providing the development of the signal parameters over time during half a year together with creep recovery. Our observations showed that time-dependent material changes must be taken into account for any comparison of ultrasonic signals that are far apart in time. The study's results demonstrate how Coda Wave Interferometry is capable of monitoring stress changes and detecting even small-size microstructural changes. By indicating the stated relations and their separation from further impacts, e.g., temperature and moisture, we anticipate our study to contribute to the gualification of Coda Wave Interferometry for its application as an early-warning system for concrete structures.

² This article appeared in its original form in the peer-reviewed, open access journal *materials* **15** (16), 5482 on August 9, 2022 [103]. It is adpoted verbatim in this chapter. The authors' work share is listed in Appendix 2.

4.1 Introduction

Reinforced concrete is used for a large part of our built environment today [140]. especially in engineering structures such as our infrastructure. Besides the essential safety aspect, reliability and permanent availability are major objectives regarding these structures' design and maintenance. Higher demands, especially due to rising traffic volume and heavy load traffic, and the simultaneous aging of the structures, necessitate increased attention to maintenance and monitoring to avoid disruptive effects such as local material failure or even a devastating collapse. Regular inspections, in most cases based on visual examination or tap tests, ensure structural integrity and operability. On the downside, they are only able to represent the structure's state at accessible areas at one point in time, whereas monitoring methods, usually from the field of non-destructive testing (NDT), complement the spectrum of available tools for safety assurance. Reinforced concrete, however, poses a special challenge for NDT techniques due to the material's heterogeneity, which complicates the separation between naturally present scatterers and undesired material changes, or damage. To this end, the evaluation of ultrasonic signals by means of Coda Wave Interferometry (CWI) is a promising and exceptionally sensitive method to detect even weak changes in the material and has been subject to previous studies on both the laboratory [89, 101, 104, 141, 142], and the structural scale [109, 32, 34, 143]. It is suitable for application as a permanent monitoring system with the focus on the early warning of microcrack initiation, and possibly providing the impulse for further in-depth inspections at alarming locations. With this study, we quantify the effects of uniaxial compression, uniaxial tension, shrinkage and creep of a normal concrete on signal changes in the Coda that we describe by means of correlation coefficients and velocity variations of collected ultrasonic signals.

4.2 State of the Art

4.2.1 Coda Wave Interferometry

Ultrasonic (US) waves in inhomogeneous media are scattered, depending on the wave properties such as frequency, and the size, shape, and type of the inhomogeneities. The effect of such scattering on ultrasonic measurements is shown in Figure 16. Although we record a distinct first arrival, which is used in classic US non-destructive testing (NDT) methods, a significant portion of the energy emitted at the source arrives at the receiver later than this first arrival. This long tail of the measurement is called Coda. Although the origin of Coda wave-based methods is found in the field of seismology, the analysis of such waves by Coda Wave Interferometry has been applied to monitoring of solids in recent decades (see e.g., [144, 17, 145, 31]). Using CWI methods, evaluation of consecutive ultrasound measurements enables detecting weak changes to the signal. This technique is based on the fact that the medium is acting as an interferometer, merging the scattered waves in the receiver position [17]. As long as the medium (interferometer) does not change, repeated measurements will record identical signals. Changes to the medium as a result of local or global impacts directly affect the recorded signals. If the change is between source and receiver, it will be visible in the first arrival. Changes outside the direct path are only affecting the scattered waves and can, therefore, only be detected using CWI analysis of volumetric ultrasound information (Figure 16). Generally. CWI methods take advantage of the accumulation of weak changes over a great number of wave paths between a sender-receiver pair that are caused by the heterogeneities. Multiple methods for CWI analysis have been proposed in recent decades [17, 86, 31], all based on the calculation of the signal correlation coefficient (CC). This coefficient determines the similarity of a reference signal u(t) in comparison to a signal recorded after a perturbation in the material $\tilde{u}(t)$. In this work, we will use the stretching technique (see [86]) to determine apparent relative velocity changes (dv/v) in the medium. This method applies different stretching factors $\varepsilon = dv/v$ to the reference signal and determines the ε maximizing CC:

$$CC(\varepsilon) = \frac{\int_{t_1}^{t_2} u(t)\tilde{u}(t(1-\varepsilon)) dt}{\sqrt{\int_{t_1}^{t_2} u^2(t) dt \int_{t_1}^{t_2} \tilde{u}^2(t(1-\varepsilon)) dt}}$$
(4.1)

With this method, two parameters, $\varepsilon = dv/v$ and CC can be extracted from the ultrasonic coda in the time interval $[t_1, t_2]$ and be used to analyze and track global and local material changes. The reference measurement u(t) can either be fixed for an entire experiment or change during the course of it if the differences between u(t) and u(t) become too large (e.g., $CC \le 0.7$) due to damage or material property changes [119]. Both the fixed reference and the changing reference method can be applied to relate the velocity change in a monitoring experiment to the initial state of the specimen. Although for the fixed reference method this is straightforward, a stepwise change in reference requires cumulative calculation of the total velocity change at every step. When switching from fixed reference to the stepwise method, CC can no longer be used for interpretation.



Figure 16: Ultrasonic recording (**bottom**) and the schematic explanation of CWI with two US transducers in a concrete model (**top**): when analyzing only the first arriving waves, the measurements are sensitive only to the area around the direct path between source and receiver (blue). As more scattered waves are included, the area increases (orange, green). Referring to the entire signal (purple), scattered waves from the entire medium are recorded at the receiver.

4.2.2 Mechanical Loading of Concrete

Concrete is a complex heterogeneous material consisting of coarse aggregates and a system of air pores embedded into a cementitious mortar matrix. Depending on the design case and objective, concrete can be investigated on different scales, whereas most structural and material design models consider the material on the macro level as a homogeneous material. However, evaluation of crack formation starts with pre-existing defects on the micro level, followed by a multilayered process of damage evolution [146]. From the monitoring perspective, it is most ideal to detect weak changes in the material already on the microstructural level and use the collected information as a precursor for material failure on the above-lying scales. Besides the impact of environmental conditions such as temperature or moisture, changes are in many cases caused by mechanical loads, i.e., compression, tension, or multidimensional stress states. We show the crack formation process for a normal concrete for the uniaxial compression and tension cases in Figure 17, which we cover in our experiments. Preexistent micro-cracks evolve primarily in tensile sections along the comparably weaker boundary between the cement matrix and single aggregates, the Interfacial Transition Zone [147]. For the compression case with much higher strength, stress trajectories appear between adjacent aggregates [148], whereas for tension, a single separating crack develops [149]. Besides direct impacts such as short-term loading, time-dependent phenomena such as shrinkage and creep are characteristic for concrete. Shrinkage causes a reduction in the material's volume and is affected by the ambient humidity, the component geometry, the drying process, and the concrete mix. It is a superimposed process of drying shrinkage due to moisture loss to the environment and autogenous shrinkage due to the internal reaction of water during the hydration from fresh to hardened concrete [150]. Although deformations as a consequence of shrinkage are generally load-independent, creep deformations are considered to depend primarily on the load level and its duration of exposition but also on moisture migration and micro crack formation [151].



Figure 17: Uniaxial loading of normal concrete specimens, where the cement paste's Young's modulus is lower in comparison to the aggregate's Young's modulus. The experimental setups for both compression (**left**), and tension (**right**), correspond to the experiments in Section 4.3. The compression case is shown with the assumption of no friction at the contact surface between press and specimen.

The immediate strain $\varepsilon_{ci}(t_0)$, together with a plastic term $\varepsilon_{pl}(t_0)$, is complemented by two terms that account for shrinkage $\varepsilon_{cs}(t_s)$ and creep $\varepsilon_{cc}(t)$ for a constant compressive stress $\sigma(t_0)$ during the loading period between t_0 and t_e . Equation (4.2) [24] summarizes the total strain $\varepsilon_c(t)$ (Figure 18) for a load application at t_0 at constant environmental conditions.

$$\varepsilon_c(t) = \varepsilon_{cs}(t) + \varepsilon_{ci}(t_0) + \varepsilon_{pl}(t_0) + \varepsilon_{cc}(t, t_0)$$
(4.2)



Figure 18: Stress (**top**) and corresponding strain (**bottom**) for shrinkage and creep in concrete as a function of concrete age t. The characteristic points t_0 and t_e specify loading and unloading with a constant load $\sigma(t_0)$.

4.3 Materials and Methods

4.3.1 Experimental Setup

We used an identical concrete mix for all experiments. Table 6 shows the concrete raw materials and their composition. Pre-tests for the Young's modulus yielded 84.6 GPa for the mainly quartzitic crushed aggregates and 27.1 GPa for the hardened mortar. The Poisson's Ratio was 0.12 for the aggregates and 0.19 for the mortar. The compressive strength was 368.0 MPa for the aggregates and 80.3 MPa for the mortar. A standardized pressure method test yielded an air void content of 3.9% in the fresh concrete. The polycarboxylatether-based superplasticizer was added to the mixing water to improve the concrete's workability and reduce the cement paste viscosity to enhance the sensor-to-concrete coupling condition. The characteristic concrete parameters were additionally modeled [24], particularly considering the concrete model's damage evolution [23]. After production, the specimens were cured at 20 °C under water for 7 days and restored to 65 % RH and 20 °C. We started each experiment in this study on the 28th day after concrete production.

Table 6: Concrete raw materials and their composition for all experiments in this study, where the aggregates are primarily quartzitic and crushed.

Cement Content	Water / Cement	Aggregate Size			Superplasticizer
CEM I 42.5 R	w/c	0/2 mm	2/5 mm	5/8 mm	BASF MasterEase 3880
350 kg/m ³	0.45	46.5%	34.0%	19.5 % *	2.5%**

* Contains 3.0 % oversized grains 8/12 mm.

* As a mass fraction in % of the cement content.

4.3.2 Compression Experiment

For the compression test, we used three cuboid specimens with an edge length of 400 mm and side lengths of 100 mm with a transducer distance of 300 mm symmetrical to the center axis (Figure 19). We decoupled the specimen on the sawn end faces by a polytetrafluorethylen (PTFE) film from the hydraulic press to minimize friction, thus avoiding a multiaxial stress state next to the faces. In advance, we evaluated the average compressive strength f_c of three geometrically identical samples without embedded transducers, which was 42.9 MPa. Subsequently, we applied a compressive load to the actual specimens with a loading rate of 50 N/s while recording ultrasonic signals between the embedded transducers every 10 s. In advance, all specimens were loaded at 5% f_c to dissolve initial internal stress. We defined different maximum loads for each specimen, i.e., 100%, 60%, and 30% of the compressive strength f_c . Having reached the maximum load, we unloaded the sound specimens again.



Figure 19: Setup for the uniaxial compression experiment: (**left**) sketch of the cuboid concrete specimens with their dimensions, (**center**) picture of the experiment, and (**right**) picture after failure. A pre-test with three identical specimens yielded a compressive strength of 42.9 MPa.

4.3.3 Tension Experiment

For the centric tension test, we used three cylindrical bone-shaped specimens with a length of 300 mm and a decreasing cross section [149] to define a predetermined fracture section (Figure 20). The transducer distance was 198 mm symmetrical to the center axis. The specimens were fastened at the tensile machine using the two-component adhesive *Hilti HIT-RE 500 V3* having cut the end faces in a chessboard pattern to improve the strength of the joint. The tensile strength was determined to be 3.0 MPa beforehand from three identical samples. The subsequent loading rate was 5 N/s while recording every 10 s up to maximum loads of 100 %, 60 %, and 30 % of the tensile strength f_{ctm} . Like the compression test, we unloaded the sound specimens again.

4.3.4 Shrinkage and Creep Experiment

The specimens for the shrinkage and creep tests were cuboids, geometrically equal to the ones from the compression test. The edge length was 400 mm and side lengths were 100 mm with a transducer distance of 300 mm symmetrical to the specimen's center axis (Figure 21). The sawn end faces were decoupled by a PTFE film from the steel frames in which a hydraulic system instantaneously compressed the specimens at different constant loads of 11 %, 18 %, and 33 % of the previously determined compressive strength. In addition, we investigated a sealed specimen at a load of 33 % and an unloaded specimen to monitor pure shrinkage. We applied the load for the duration of half a year and continued monitoring for another 50 days after unloading to observe creep recovery.



Figure 20: Setup for the uniaxial tension experiment: (**left**) sketch of the cylindrical concrete specimens with their dimensions, (**center**) picture during the experiment, and (**right**) picture after failure. A pre-test with three identical specimens yielded a tensile strength of 3.0 MPa.



Figure 21: Setup for the shrinkage and creep experiment: (*left*) sketch of the cuboid concrete specimens with their dimensions, loaded within a steel frame, and (*right*) picture of the experiment.

The normal strain of every specimen was individually tracked by a system of strain gauges in a temperature-compensated circuit of two active and two passive strain gauges each. All specimens were equipped with embedded piezoelectric transducers (described in [91]) to collect ultrasonic signals. The transducers acted as sender-receiver pairs with a center frequency of 60 kHz. The measurement system (described in [127]) recorded the resulting signal with a sampling rate of 1 MHz and 12,000 samples with a resolution of 14 bits. We subsequently compared the signals without further averaging.

4.4 Results

For each experiment, we evaluated the collected ultrasonic signals using Coda Wave Interferometry methods. By comparing every signal to a fixed, non-perturbed reference signal at an unloaded state, we present the velocity variations dv/v together with the signal correlation coefficient CC according to Equation (4.1) during the individual loading scenarios. Positive values of dv/v indicate a velocity decrease and vice versa. All ultrasound measurements were preprocessed before application of the CWI algorithm. Preprocessing included offset compensation, pretrigger and crosstalk removal and frequency filtering. We refer to [119] for the detailed processing procedure. CWI parameter changes as a consequence of either compressive or tensile stress may be interpreted as calibration curves, whereas the development of CWI parameters over time due to the phenomena shrinkage and creep are referred to as concrete-specific features.

4.4.1 Uniaxial Compression

The compressive loading scenario is presented in Figure 22 together with the velocity variation dv/v and the signal correlation coefficient CC for a fixed reference signal in an unloaded state. The loading and unloading rate was 50 N/s and equal for all specimens. One specimen was loaded up to failure ($\sigma_{max} = f_c$), which caused maximum velocity variation at failure of approximately 11%. The other specimens were loaded up to 30 and 60% of the maximum load f_{c} . The maximum load was held for 5 min, followed by unloading. During the whole experiment, we left the press connected to the specimen by applying a minimum load of 1 $\% f_c$ to keep the contact condition of the press unchanged. Ultrasonic signals were collected at a rate of 0.1 Hz. As the experiment covers not only weak changes in the stress state, using one fixed reference for the entire experiment may cause discontinuities of velocity perturbations due to great signal variations in comparison to an unloaded state. We considered this methodspecific phenomenon by establishing an additional evaluation technique picking a new reference signal each time the overall signal correlation coefficient drops below a threshold, which was defined as 0.7 for this analysis. Therefore, we ensure keeping the signal changes within the thus generated windows small enough to satisfy the principles of Coda Wave Interferometry regarding the sensitive evaluation of weak changes to the material. Up to a compressive stress of 6.4 MPa, equaling $0.15 f_c$, we observe insignificant deviations between the two methods for the development of dv/v. For a growing stress, deviations increasingly change and the gradient switches sign for the two specimens $\sigma_{max} = 0.30 f_c$ and $\sigma_{max} = 0.60 f_c$. Numerical instabilities are observed particularly for the specimen $\sigma_{max} = f_c$. Analysis of the velocity variation yielded similar development over time, or equally load. We observed a steady signal compression for increasing loads up to approximately 25.6 MPa, equaling 60% f_c , resulting in a maximum dv/v of -1.6%. For further loading, the velocity variation gradient switched sign and increasingly rose, indicating evolving damage in the material. For the two non-failed specimens, dv/v turned positive while unloading and reached a maximum of 0.6% for $\sigma_{max} = 0.30 f_c$ and 0.9% for $\sigma_{max} = 0.60 f_c$, indicating irreversible material changes after the experiment. A linear regression analysis of the three specimens up to $0.30 f_c$ yielded a velocity variation increase of -0.97%/MPa which is comparable to the slope in [46]. The coefficient of determination for this analysis is 76.6%.



Figure 22: Uniaxial compression experiment for three specimens, referring to the setup in Figure 19 with different maximum stresses: compressive stress σ_c , velocity variation dv/v and signal correlation coefficient CC over time.

Analysis of the signal correlation coefficient development also yielded similar results for all specimens up to 12.8 MPa, equaling $30 \%_{f_c}$, where CC expectedly drops for increasing loads. For CC below 0.4 to 0.3, its gradient is attenuated, and does not drop below 0.2 before material failure. Regarding the two unloaded specimens, we observed an increase in CC, but not a complete restoration of the original signal at the unloaded state. The remaining offset was approximately 0.03 for $\sigma_{max} = 0.30 f_c$ and 0.15 for $\sigma_{max} = 0.60 f_c$. As environmental and bearing conditions did not change during the experiment, the remaining offset is connected to the internal material damage of the specimen, which is significantly larger for higher loads, and corresponds to the observations referring to the signals' velocity variation dv/v. Both parameters were translated into the compressive stress domain during the loading process. We show the results in Figure 23. The velocity variation is plotted in accordance with both methods for one fixed reference (top) and switching reference signals for windows with CC > 0.7 (bottom). As both ultrasonic signals and the stress have been measured in the time domain, CWI parameters are linearly interpolated for the respective stress. For a measuring rate of the load of 10 Hz and a loading rate of 50 N/s, we specify a resolution of < 0.25 MPa. Evaluating CC only above the threshold 0.7 yields a steady development of dv/v for increasing loads up to $\sigma_{max} = 0.60 f_c$, whereas dv/v is not completely steady, in particular for sections with major changes to the ultrasonic signals. Considering building codes [135], the elastic modulus of concrete can be estimated referring to its strength, depending on the used aggregates. For the concrete with quartzitic aggregates, the secant modulus between $\sigma_c = 0$ and $40\% f_{cm}$ is applied for determining the elastic modulus, where f_{cm} is the medium compressive strength. Referring to the standards, the relation between compressive stress and the CWI parameters is nearly reversible within this range, which has been confirmed up to $30\% f_c$ in this experiment through an approximate restoration of the original values of dv/vand CC after unloading. However, deviations as a consequence of damage evolution on a microstructural level must be expected due to the heterogeneous nature of concrete.

4.4.2 Uniaxial Tension

The centric tensile loading scenario is presented in Figure 24 together with the velocity variation dv/v and the signal correlation coefficient *CC*. The indicated tensile stress refers to the center circular cross section with a diameter of 120 mm. The loading rate was 5 N/s and equal for all specimens. As in the compression experiment, one specimen was loaded up to failure, whereas two specimens were loaded to 30% and 60% of the maximum load f_{ctm} . The maximum load was held for 5 min, followed by unloading. The contact condition during the experiment stayed unchanged due to the adhesive connection. Therefore, no minimum load, as during the compression experiment, was applied. Ultrasonic signals were collected at a rate of 0.1 Hz. In comparison to the compressive



Figure 23: Velocity variation dv/v and signal correlation coefficient CC for three specimens as in Figure 22, translated into the compressive stress domain during the loading process up to 100 %(failure), 60 %, and 30 % of the compressive strength f_c .

loading experiment, the stress range is smaller due to the characteristic behavior of concrete regarding tension. For this concrete mix, the ratio between the tensile strength f_{ctm} and the compressive strength was determined to be around 7.0%. We show dv/v for a fixed reference signal in an unloaded state only, since *CC* does not drop as significantly as during compression. Therefore, we consider one fixed reference sufficient to cover the entire experiment.

Analysis of the velocity variation yielded similar forms for all specimens over time, or equally load. Signals were steadily stretched for increasing tensile loads up to 100% f_{ctm} , or 3.0 MPa. We observed nearly linear development of dv/v, whereas the gradient of one specimen with a maximum load of $\sigma_{max} = 0.60 f_{ctm}$ rapidly decreased above approximately 30% f_{ctm} . The maximum velocity variation before failure was 0.80%. Failure was characterized by evolution of one characteristic macro crack. Having reached their respective maxima at 0.36% for $\sigma_{max} = 0.30 f_{ctm}$ and 0.41% for $\sigma_{max} = 0.60 f_{ctm}$, dv/v decreased while unloading the specimens. As in the compression experiments, the remaining velocity variation was higher for greater maximum loads, 0.22% for $\sigma_{max} = 0.30 f_{ctm}$ and 0.37%



Figure 24: Uniaxial tension experiment for three specimens, referring to the setup in Figure 20 with different maximum stresses: tensile stress σ_t , velocity variation dv/v and signal correlation coefficient *CC* over time.

 $\sigma_{max} = 0.60 f_{ctm}$, again indicating irreversible material changes after the experiment. A linear regression analysis of the three specimens up to $0.30 f_{ctm}$ yielded a velocity variation increase of 0.33%/MPa. The coefficient of determination for this analysis is 92.2 %. Signal correlation coefficients steadily decreased during the experiment time, or load up to f_{ctm} , whereas deviations between the specimens' CCs also increased for growing tensile stress. The minimum CCs were computed at 0.90 for $\sigma_{max} = 0.30 f_{ctm}$ and 0.66 for $\sigma_{max} = 0.60 f_{ctm}$. After unloading, offsets remained in both cases despite unchanged environmental and bearing conditions. The individual offsets depended on the applied maximum load according to the observations for dv/v. For greater loads, the offset increased, which related to irreversible material changes on a microstructural level. We translated both CWI parameters into the tensile stress domain during the loading process and show the results for the three specimens in Figure 25. Likewise, the compression experiment, CWI parameters are linearly interpolated for the respective stress. For a measuring rate of the load of 10 Hz and a loading rate of 5 N/s, we specify a resolution of < 0.025 MPa. Since the parameters showed a



steady increase for greater loads at a constant loading rate, their developments in the tensile stress domain are equivalent to the time domain.

Figure 25: Velocity variation dv/v and signal correlation coefficient CC, both using a fixed reference signal at an unloaded state, for three specimens as in Figure 24, translated into the tensile stress domain during the loading process up to 100%(failure), 60%, and 30% of the compressive strength f_{ctm} .

4.4.3 Shrinkage and Creep

Both processes, shrinkage and creep, are concrete-specific phenomena. In contrast to external load variations, which have a direct impact on the ultrasonic signal, these phenomena cause a characteristic material reaction over time. In this experiment, we show the CWI parameters, together with the measured strain, for pure shrinkage and superimposed creep at different constant loads of $\sigma = [0.11\%, 18\%, 33\%] f_c$ in Figure 26. The specimens were loaded for the duration of half a year and unloaded after that period. The spike after 7 days results from a restart of the load-applying hydraulic system, where further specimens were added to the experiment. Therefore, the experiment duration for $\sigma = 18\% f_c$ is 7 days shorter in comparison to the remaining specimens. Ultrasonic signals were collected approximately every 10 min using a *Raspberry Pi*-based measuring system [127]. CWI parameters result from evaluation using a fixed reference, immediately after the initial load application. The environmental conditions were 20 °C and 65 % RH. Like the bearing conditions, they stayed unchanged during

the entire experiment. The CWI analysis by means of a fixed reference signal, immediately after load application, showed a signal velocity variation corresponding to the characteristic strain evolution during concrete shrinkage and creep. For pure shrinkage, we observed -0.4 % dv/v after half a year, whereas the specimens exposed to external loads showed values up to -3.8% dv/v for the maximum load. The resulting values of dv/v sequence according to the amount of the applied load. After unloading, all values of dv/v spontaneously returned towards their original values. As all specimens are simultaneously exposed also to shrinkage, the remaining strains cause the CWI parameters not to return completely to zero. However, there are additional changes to the material. regarding strain after unloading. Furthermore, creep recovery of the material appears, also detectable in both strain and velocity variation. Signal correlation coefficients CC significantly decrease instantly after load application as a consequence of large deformations. They are considered ambiguous, especially for small values of CC, i.e., for most creep scenarios. For pure shrinkage, CC remained above 0.85 during the entire experiment, where its development reflects the typical shrinkage behavior, validated by this specimen's strain.



Figure 26: Shrinkage and creep experiment with different constant stresses referring to the setup in Figure 21: strains $\Delta l/l$, velocity variations dv/v and signal correlation coefficient CC over time.

4.5 Discussion

The propagation of Coda waves in concrete is affected by various external impacts that may cause microstructural changes to the material. To interpret the total signal changes, the single effects must be separable, particularly regarding reversible and irreversible changes, or damage. By means of our experiments, we can specify the relations between externally applied mechanical loads, i.e., uniaxial compression and tension, and immediate changes to the ultrasonic signals, i.e., signal correlation and velocity variation, using Coda Wave Interferometry methods. We indicate these relations as calibration curves for a normal concrete, whereas we assess a full range of such calibration curves as key to separate reversible from irreversible changes. This range must be extended by further impacts, i.e., temperature and moisture for the identical material in the future. As we produced a standard concrete using Ordinary Portland Cement, quartiztic aggregates, and a w/c ratio of 0.45, we evaluate the relations as references valid for a broad range of concrete mixes. However, we expect deviations for concrete mixes with varying cement stone and aggregate stiffness due to the modified crack formation process. During the compression experiment, we consider CWI evaluation techniques with a single fixed reference not able to cover the entire stress range between the unloaded state and material failure due to major material changes, especially while irreversible damage advance. The evolution of dv/v can therefore be ambiguous due to abrupt changes to the maximized signal correlation $CC(t, \varepsilon)$, but without a significant physical material change. A fixed reference signal in the unloaded state has proven to be insufficient to detect advancing damage. Therefore, we propose the use of CWI evaluation for a range, where only moderate material changes are expected. We address this hypothesis by the introduction of a tailored method, which switches the reference signal every time the signal correlation drops between a fixed value of 0.7. We recognize further optimization potential regarding this condition to cover small- and large-scale material changes at the same time using condition-based signal reference. Furthermore, we stated a calibration curve for the impact of uniaxial tension on the same concrete mix using one fixed reference signal at the unloaded state. In this experiment, we found nearly linear relations of dv/v and CC for increasing stress as a consequence of a purely uniaxial stress state. Thus, linear crack evolution of single cracks was observed up to failure, completed by the specimens' fracture forming one single macro crack. For both experiments, we showed irreversible changes in the velocity variation dv/v by a remaining velocity decrease for both compression and tension, relating to irreversible micro-cracks in the material. In addition to immediate responses of the CWI parameters, we extended our experiments by investigation of concrete-characteristic shrinkage and creep behavior. These phenomena were monitored in the time domain and are, in contrast to calibration curves, considered to be long-term features. We showed that shrinkage and creep behavior is, in addition to conventional techniques such as strain measurement, representable by evaluation of the velocity variation dv/v. By implication for long-term monitoring processes, it is pivotal to compensate for concrete-typical effects when interpreting two far apart states in time. These time-dependent changes must be considered for signal comparisons by means of calibration curves as the reference may have changed, even if the impacts of stress, temperature and moisture are identical. Further phenomena such as carbonation, freeze attack, or steel corrosion in reinforced concrete will have to be accounted for beyond our investigations.

4.6 Conclusions

Coda Wave Interferometry is a superiorly sensitive method to detect weak changes to heterogeneous materials such as concrete. To establish this technology as an early-warning system for real structures, we analyzed the relations between the correlations and velocity variations of the ultrasonic signals using the stretching technique and externally applied mechanical loads, which we call calibration curves. These curves could serve as the basis for translation of multidimensional fields of velocity variations into stress changes and damage, even for more-than-one-dimensional stress states and on larger specimen scales beyond our investigations. We calculated the relation between velocity variation of the full-length ultrasonic signals for both uniaxial compression and uniaxial tension using a linear regression for elastic material behavior up to 30% of the respective stress which agrees with previous studies [46, 104, 142]. Furthermore, we evaluated shrinkage and creep processes equally by means of dv/vand CC to indicate long-term changes to the ultrasonic signals. These long-term changes must be considered for signal comparisons over time. Calibration of the effect of mechanical loads adds to the list of all conceivable impacts on concrete structures such as temperature or moisture, and must be quantifiable to separate reversible from irreversible changes, i.e., damage. With our research, we contribute to characterizing the impact of mechanical loads on ultrasound propagating in concrete.

5 Monitoring Early Cement Hydration with Coda Wave Interferometry³

Abstract - The inorganic chemical reaction of hydraulic binders, such as cement with water, is a complex mechanism and a vital part of every building process involving concrete. During this hydration reaction, the system develops strength due to the formation of various solid hydration phases over time. In the case of ordinary Portland cements (OPC), the main hydration phase is called C-S-H phase, and is responsible for the early- and long-term strength development of cement. Therefore, the formation of this phase determines the time for continuing construction work, e.g. removing formwork or concreting of the following structures. Under laboratory conditions and for relatively small samples, methods such as quantitative X-ray diffraction analysis are able to monitor the progress of hydration over time. However, it is more challenging to monitor the hydration of larger structures under non-laboratory conditions.

In this study, we propose a sensitive and robust monitoring method to detect and quantify the formation of various hydration phases during the early hydration of OPC using Coda Wave Interferometry, based on the evaluation of ultrasonic waves with embedded piezoelectric sensors. We investigated the signal correlation and velocity perturbation of ultrasonic signals during the first 24 hours of OPC hydration. We identified periods during which these parameters varied significantly and periods during which the signals stabilized, in our case approximately 18 hours after initiation of the reaction. Simultaneously, we monitored the hydration of OPC using similar but smaller samples by means of heat flow calorimetry and a Vicat penetration test. We predicted the evolution of the main hydration phases' mass by thermodynamic modeling and validated our results as well as the assignment of characteristic periods to the formation of specific hydration phases in the time domain. Our proposed method adds to the spectrum of ultrasound-based methods for hydration monitoring. Our approach aims at a more sophisticated prediction of the early-age strength development of cement and concrete, even under site conditions and for large structures.

³ This article appeared in its original form in the peer-reviewed Proceedings of the 13th International Workshop on Structural Health Monitoring in Stanford, 2021. Lancaster, PA: DEStech Publications, Inc. [152]. It is adpoted verbatim in this chapter. The authors' work share is listed in Appendix 2.

5.1 Introduction

Today, our built world is composed of a variety of materials. On a global scale, reinforced concrete (RC) is the most widely used structural engineering material [153]. In many cases, the safety and availablity of structures, built from this material, directly relate to the functionality of vital sectors in modern society, e.g. mobility, logistics, and energy. In general, the monitoring of these structures using non-destructive testing methods is a challenge because concrete is a heterogeneous composite material. It comprises several phases that mainly develop during the production of concrete. The chemical reaction of cement with water, or hydration, forms a matrix of hardened cement paste with embedded aggregates, ranging from sand to coarse aggregates, and a system of air pores.

There are a number of promising ultrasound-based techniques for monitoring engineering structures that exploit the reproducibility of ultrasonic (US) signals using embedded sensors. These techniques are cost-efficient given the necessary instrumented volume of the structure. On the other hand, analyses of direct waves or frequency domain analyses often fail because of the great number of heterogeneities, which act as scatterers for the propagating waves. Developing single scatterers, e.g. as a consequence of damage, are not usually detectable when evaluating direct US waves. A more sophisticated technique that exploits the presence of multiple scatterers is called Coda Wave Interferometry (CWI), which was originally developed for geophysical applications. Now, however, current research [119, 34, 26] has started to recognize its potential as an early-warning monitoring system for civil engineering due to its sensitivity to even subtle changes in the material.

5.2 Theoretical Background

5.2.1 Coda Wave Interferometry

The term Coda refers to the strongly scattered tail of an US signal originating from interactions in heterogeneous media [154] in contrast to the evaluation of direct waves. The theory of Coda Wave Interferometry takes advantage of evaluating complex late-onset waveforms by considering them as a summation of the waves that propagate along all possible paths. Although scattering attenuation reduces the signal amplitude for late time windows, the wave information is transformed rather than being cancelled [19] because the waves spend a longer time in the material. Therefore, they sample a specific region within the

medium multiple times. The change in the wavefield is numerically expressed by comparing the unperturbed u(t') and perturbed waveforms $\tilde{u}(t')$ using timeshifted correlation coefficients with a center-time t, and a window length from t_1 to t_2 [18]. The stretching technique [155] interpolates the Coda at time $t(1 - \varepsilon)$, where the velocity variation ε of the Coda derives from a velocity perturbation dvbetween two signals.

Here, ε represents the velocity variation, which is the ratio of a velocity perturbation dv of a waveform compared to the Coda wave velocity of the reference waveform.

$$\varepsilon = \frac{dv}{v} \tag{5.1}$$

Equation (5.2) compares two US signals using the correlation coefficient CC:

$$CC(\varepsilon) = \frac{\int_{t_1}^{t_2} u(t)\tilde{u}(t(1-\varepsilon)) dt}{\sqrt{\int_{t_1}^{t_2} u^2(t) dt \int_{t_1}^{t_2} \tilde{u}^2(t(1-\varepsilon)) dt}}$$
(5.2)

Equation (5.3) describes the cumulative velocity variation ε_c of the n^{th} waveform:

$$\varepsilon_{c} = \begin{cases} \varepsilon_{n}, & n = 1\\ (\varepsilon_{n-1} + 1) (\varepsilon_{n} + 1) - 1, & n > 1 \end{cases}$$
(5.3)

Coda Waves correspond to multiply scattered wave paths due to numerous heterogeneities. The wavelength is typically smaller than the size of the heterogeneities which are, in turn, smaller than the mean free path. In concrete, these conditions lead to frequencies above 100 kHz, whereas frequencies between 20 kHz and 150 kHz characterize the simple scattering regime [19]. In general, scattering and wave propagation depend on the concrete composition. Microstructural models of concrete can be used to simulate wave propagation for arbitrary compositions [24, 23].

5.2.2 Thermodynamic Modeling of Cement Hydration

Ordinary Portland cement primarily comprises the clinker phases alite (C_3S), belite (C_2S), aluminate (C_3A), and ferrite (C_4AF), where two reaction types dominate the early hydration: the silicate reaction, in which hydration of C_3S results in the formation of C-S-H and CH, and the aluminate reaction in which ettringite is formed [156, 157, 158].

The conventional way of monitoring the in-situ hydration and hardening process of OPC is evaluation of the heat evolution by isothermal heat conduction calorimetry. The heat flow during early hydration reflects the main cement hydration stages: rapid initial process (I), induction period (II), acceleration phase (III), and retardation period (IV) [158] (Fig. 29), where the acceleration phase and retardation period form the hydration peak.

Thermodynamic modeling of cement hydration, e.g. using Gibbs Energy Minimization Software (GEMS), allows conclusions to be reached about durabilityrelated and mechanical characteristics of cementitious materials over a longtime scale. Methods, available software, and databases are continously improving [159] and state-of-the-art modeling approaches consist of two stages: i) determination of the dissolution rate of the anhydrous cement phases based on experimental data, and ii) prediction of the hydration phase assemblage at given times depending on the predicted dissolution rates of the anhydrous phases and the data of cement-specific phases [160]. Several approaches for predicting the dissolution of anhydrous cement phases exist [159], such as the model presented by Parrot & Killoh [161]. The concept of Gibbs free energy minimization [162, 163] is the basic principle behind models for predicting the formation of hydration phases. However, this approach necessarily assumes thermodynamic equilibrium, even though the solid and liquid phase are not in equilibrium, especially during early-age hydration.

5.3 Methods

5.3.1 Experimental Setup and Signal Data Processing

We produced a concrete mix using OPC CEM142.5 R and a water-to-cementratio of 0.45. The cement's density was 3.12 g/cm³ and a Blaine test yielded a specific surface of 3400 cm²/g. The aggregates were crushed stones with predominantly guartzitic components with an approximated A/B16 grading curve according to the German standard DIN 1045-2. Additionally, 2.42 wt.-% cement of a polycarboxylatether-based superplasticizer, added to the mixing water, improved the concrete workability and the sensor-to-concrete coupling condition. Fig. 27 (a) shows the two embedded US transducers (ACSYS S0807) with a center frequency of 60 kHz, (b) the experimental setup, and (c) one specimen after completion of the reaction. The sensors were fixed using pipes which are still visible after removing the formwork. The portable and low-cost measurement device was specifically designed for concrete monitoring [127]. The system transmits pulses at a frequency of 60 kHz to one selectable transducer and records the resulting signal with a sampling rate of 1 MHz and 12,000 samples with a resolution of 14 bits. We subsequently compared the signals without further averaging. We pre-processed the US signals by applying a second-order



Figure 27: (a) Cylindric piezoelectrical US sensor with a center frequency of 60 kHz. (b) Sketch of experimental setup. The distance between the two embedded sensors is 300 mm. (c) Specimen with dimensions of 400 x100 x100 mm³, 24 h after production.

Butterworth bandpass filter in the time domain with cutoff frequencies of 1 kHz and 120 kHz without tapering. The average amplitude of the first 50 samples determined the offset compensation for each signal. To eliminate electromagnetic crosstalk between the transducers, the first 100 samples of the signal were set to zero. The entire hydration process was monitored by computing the cross-correlation coefficient and the velocity perturbation from each pre-processed signal, collected every 7 minutes. These parameters were calculated using a time window length of 2,500 samples which equates to 2.5 ms, and a stepwise signal comparison. Fig. 28 shows four US signals after pre-processing at different times during the hydration process with rising amplitudes and axes scales.



Figure 28: Pre-processed US signal at different times during OPC hydration, referencing water addition. The sampling rate was 1 MHz for 2500 samples.
5.3.2 Validation using Heat Flow Calorimetry, and Thermodynamic Modeling

We used an eight-channel conduction calorimeter TAM Air by TA Instruments to measure the heat flow during the first 24 h of cement hydration. The anhydrous OPC was weighed into 20 ml glass ampoules to enable water addition and mixing at 20 °C inside the calorimeter. The resulting heat flow curve represents the average of three simultaneous measurements. In addition, we used a standardized Vicat needle with a 1 mm² circular cross section to monitor the OPC hardening process by means of penetration depth over time according to standard DIN EN 196-3. We used GEMS [163] to predict the dissolution of the four main clinker minerals in the anhydrous cement by means of a modified Parrot & Killoh model [164, 161] taking into account the composition of the anhydrous cement as determined by quantitative X-ray diffraction analysis, its specific surface area determined by the Blaine method and the curing temperature. The formation of the following phases was neglected: AFt solid solutions containing iron, carbonate or hydroxy end members AFt-AIFe-ss, AFt-s-c-ss, AFm-s-OHss. Furthermore, hydrogarnet (C3AH6), siliceous hydrogarnet (C3FS0.84H4.32 and C3FS1.34H3.32), C4AcH9, M-S-H, gibbsite, thaumasite, brucite, dolomite, magnesite, titanite, hematite, goethite, pyrite, syngenite were not considered because their formation is kinetically hindered at the prevailing temperature and pressure.

5.4 Results

After preprocessing, we evaluated the US signals using CWI according to Equation (5.2) and Equation (5.3). As the concrete was processed first, we show the stepwise correlation coefficient *CC*, velocity perturbation dv/v, and cumulative velocity perturbation ε_c between 1 h and 24 h after water addition in Fig. 29. During the first 6 h of hydration, *CC* and dv/v have unstable values due to a small signal-to-noise ratio. However, these parameters converge between (b) and (c) for *CC*, and between (b) and (d) for dv/v and ε_c . The comparison between both CWI parameters reveals a more sensitive response of the velocity variation to phase changes in the materials during hydration, because it is still detecting changes in the material phase assemblage after 12 h.



Figure 29: Correlation coefficient *CC*, velocity variation dv/v and cumulative sum ε_c using CWI with a stepwise reference. Heat flow dQ/dt with characteristic periods [158], and penetration depth d, all averaged from three specimens of CEM I. Assemblage of phase masses m per 100 g OPC in the cement paste, predicted by thermodynamic modeling over hydration time t. Positions (a) to (d) refer to the US signals from Fig. 29.

For validation purposes, we show the experimentally obtained isothermal calorimetric heat flow at 20 °C with the initial peak immediately after water addition and the following induction period up to approximately 3.5 h of hydration. The acceleration period reaches a heat flow maximum at approximately 11 h. During the following retardation period, the heat flow continuously decreases and approaches the x-axis asymptotically. Simultaneously, the Vicat test shows the major decrease in the penetration depth around 6 h upon entering the acceleration phase. In order to identify the individual mechanisms of cement hydration, we compared the experimental results with the modeled evolution of the phase assemblage (Fig. 29, bottom). Alite dissolution starts approximately at the hydration heat flow peak, where the point of inflection of the dissolution reaction correlates with the peak of the heat flow. Furthermore, the dissolution of the main clinker phases, especially C_3S , correlates with the obtained heat flow curve.

The comparison of the cumulative velocity variation ε_c with the heat flow shows a consistent identification of the transition between the induction period (II) and the acceleration phase (III) after approximately 4 h. The GEMS model confirms this conformity as the dissolution of the main clinker phases also accelerates after 4h. In addition, ε_c and the simulated dissolution show a similar development and concurring points of inflection after 8 h of hydration. ε_c convergence occurs after about 18 h, whereas the simulated dissolution reactions mainly decelerate after 20 h. Both monitoring of the velocity variation and the phase assemblage model show convergence within the retardation period (IV) and significantly after having reached the heat flow peak.

5.5 Discussion and Conclusions

In our study, we conducted several experiments to monitor the concrete hydration process. Evaluation using stepwise Coda Wave Interferometry demonstrated the potential of being able to interpret the hydration progress over time using the sensitive velocity variation dv/v of the the collected US signals.

We were able to show the correlation between the CWI method and conventional techniques, i.e., heat flow calorimetry and Vicat test, for a characteristic hydration reaction of Ordinary Portland Cement. Furthermore, we demonstrate conformity of the velocity variation development with the dissolution of the main clinker phases by modeling the early-age phase formation process using CemGEMS.

Generally, Coda wave interferometry is applied for monitoring slight changes in the material. However, we are also able to use stepwise CWI to monitor time-dependent processes, i.e., material phase changes during hydration, by interpreting the dv/v development as a characteristic feature. Also, our technique is insensitive to the actual starting time, or knowledge of the exact source-receiver position of the US sensors because moderate modifications have no effect on the velocity change estimation. We consider these conditions advantageous for the technology's application under actual conditions when estimating the progress of the hydation process, and therefore, the early-age strength development of concrete structures.

6 Conclusions

6.1 Summarized Impacts on the Velocity Variation

Coda wave interferometry is a highly sensitive method to detect even weak changes in heterogeneous media like concrete using the velocity change of elastic waves propagating in the material. The ultrasonic velocity variation can represent various impacts on civil engineering structures, many of which have been discussed in literature (Chapter 2.3.2).

We can collect one ultrasonic signal at a time for each sender-receiver pair in a structure and determine the total velocity change between the measurements at a reference state and the evaluated state. The measured velocity variation can be expressed as a sum of three terms that change at different rates over time as in Equation (6.1).

The transient term covers the impacts from state changes due to temperature, stress, or moisture, where the changes in dv/v are expected immediatly, e.g., for stress, or over a few hours up to days, e.g., for temperature and moisture in large structures. A second stationary term includes velocity variations that steadily develop over longer periods, i.e., in the range of over months or years. This term is affected by long-term strain or expectable chemical changes of the phase composition.

The first two terms are considered to be reversible, whereas a third term includes changes that are induced by any irreversible material change. Therefore, any value greater than zero is an indicator of damage in the structure.

$$\left(\frac{dv}{v}\right)_{measured} = \left(\frac{dv}{v}\right)_{transient} + \left(\frac{dv}{v}\right)_{stationary} + \left(\frac{dv}{v}\right)_{irreversible}$$
(6.1)

Figure 30 presents the individual effects on Equation (6.1) coming from the structural system in greater detail . The transient impacts on the ultrasonic velocity change from temperature, stress, and moisture have been investigated in the articles, here in Chapter 3 and Chapter 4. The extreme case of phase changes during early cement hydration has been subject of the article in Chapter 5.

The left side of Equation (6.1) is the result of ultrasonic measurements, followed by the calculation of dv/v, while the irreversible term on the right side is usually the critical one and should be determined to identify any damage in the structure. To solve the equation, both the remaining terms must be evaluated in detail. Equation (6.2) further breaks down the transient term of dv/v, where individual effects of temperature *T*, saturation degree *S* of the material, i.e., the



Life cycle *i* [a]

Figure 30: Summarized effects on the velocity variation dv/v refined from Figure 3. Originating from the measured total velocity variation, dv/v splits into three terms according to Equation (6.1). Transient changes occur on a short time scale, whereas stationary changes are only visible over a long period. Assuming that these two terms can be predicted, any remainder can be considered an irreversible change that indicates damage in the structure.

pore space, and stress σ are included. In this notation, x_0 refers to the value of each variable at the reference state, while Δx refers to its change.

$$\left(\frac{dv}{v}\right)_{transient} = \frac{dv}{v} \left(T_0, \Delta T\right) + \frac{dv}{v} \left(S_0, \Delta S\right) + \frac{dv}{v} \left(\sigma_0, \Delta\sigma\right)$$
(6.2)

Both **temperature** $(T_0, \Delta T)$ and **saturation degree** $(S_0, \Delta S)$ are variables that must be considered together, as they affect each other due to the temperature-affected moisture content of the structure's environment and the moisture gradient arising in the material. It is important to note that the saturation degree of the pore space affects the anelastic seismic properties of concrete, in which context we demonstrated an increasing attenuation for higher saturation using the seismic quality factor Q. However, S is usually not directly measurable and must be expressed by external variables, e.g., relative humidity RH or the electrical resistance of the electrolyte Ω [165]. Equation (6.2) emphasizes the impact on dv/v as a result of the state change of the material due to the saturation degree rather than using an external variable, for which a delayed system response should be considered.

The relationship between temperature and dv/v is quasi-linear for the same water-to-cement ratio, which we found to be comparable with previous studies to within an order of magnitude [107, 137]. Regarding relative humidity variation, we discovered a steady decrease of dv/v for an increase of water in the pore system between 35 % RH up to 80 % RH at a reference temperature of 20 °C. Furthermore, a saturation degree above this value can disrupt the trend, where

dv/v increases compared to the lower values of *RH*. However, this observation is associated with a high degree of uncertainty due to attenuation effects, as demonstrated by *Q*, and a low cross correlation value *CC* between the ultrasonic signals. Combining all observations and the additional consideration of the water-to-cement ratio, which influences the pore space, leads to a third order polynomial model that covers the variation of the three variables and their effect on the velocity variation dv/v at a high degree of confidence.

The saturation degree is especially indicative of the fact that any relationship stated for the individual arguments depends on the material composition because the amount of water in the pore space is also affected by the volume of the pore space, which again depends on the water-to-cement ratio w/c. We demonstrated this in the polynomial model, which had dominant terms depending on w/c. Furthermore, also elastic, anelastic, and scattering properties may also change for different material mixes. This implies that any experimentally determined relationship regarding both the transient and the stationary terms is only valid for the particular material. The relationships between the transient and stationary impacts on the velocity variation can either be experimentally determined for the particular case, for which Equation (6.1) should be solved, or predicted by material models in combination with wave propagation simulations. Such models can be calibrated by means of the physicial relationships and the data from our research, with the objective of being transferable to arbitrary material mixes. Nevertheless, in order to compensate for velocity changes due to temperature and the saturation degree, T and S of the structure must be known and measured continuously, e.g., in the same grid as ultrasonic transducers are embedded.

The relationship between **stress** ($\sigma_0, \Delta \sigma$) and the velocity variation is also affected by the material mix as the crack formation process changes for different material mixes. We find that CWI using a single reference is not able to cover the entire stress range between the unloaded state and material failure and propose a method that switches the reference signal every time the signal correlation drops between a fixed minimum value of the cross correlation *CC* between two ultrasonic signals. This approach holds especially true for the compression case since the crack formation process is more complex than uniaxial tension, during which mostly individual cracks develop. We demonstrated that a stress increase can be approximated by a linear relationship in the elastic range up to 30% of the material strength for both compression and tension, whereas an irreversible velocity decrease occurs above this load level.

The study (Chapter 4) explicitly shows that the influence of the cross correlation value CC on the calculation of dv/v must be considered and its computation must be standardized during the entire evaluation cycle. This becomes especially important for major changes in the structural system, i.e., irreversible ones or long-term changes with a great effect on the ultrasonic waveforms. Equation (6.3) provides the arguments of the long-term stationary term, where the effects of strain ε and chemical phase changes Ψ are included.

$$\left(\frac{dv}{v}\right)_{stationary} = \frac{dv}{v} \left(\varepsilon_0, \Delta\varepsilon\right) + \frac{dv}{v} \left(\Psi_0, \Delta\Psi\right)$$
(6.3)

Typicial phenomena that induce long-term **strain** $(\varepsilon_0, \Delta \varepsilon)$ in concrete are shrinkage and creep, in which the resulting strains have an impact on the velocity variation in addition to the immediate change of dv/v due to stress. We showed that the characteristic shrinkage and creep behavior of concrete can be measured for several load levels using CWI. Consequently, these changes must be considered for long-term state comparisons using CWI because these changes appear in the stationary term.

Furthermore, the velocity variation is affected by any **chemical phase changes** $(\Psi_0, \Delta \Psi)$. Phase changes are a continuous process in cementitious materials, whereas two types of phase changes should be distinguished in this context. First, early hydration is the most extreme case, during which cement and water react, create strength, and develop into the solid form cement paste. We demonstrated that the velocity variation development using ultrasonic signals compared in steps correlates with the dissolution of the main clinker phases over time. CWI exhibits a similarly high level of accuracy in detecting characteristic hydration periods compared to conventional techniques, e.g., heat flow calorimetry and the Vicat test, but also compared to a thermodynamic model of early-age phase formation using CemGEMS.

Although we demonstrated that ultrasonic velocity changes can detect the earlyage strength development of concrete during the early hydration, CWI is usually designed to detect weak changes in a structural concrete system, as expressed by Equation (6.1). As a result, phase changes addressed in Equation 6.3 are rather long-term and must be considered as a source for velocity changes.

Separating the individual arguments for the transient and the stationary terms is not always possible, nor is doing so always necessary because some effects are inseparably linked. By way of example, we can consider the separation of the impacts of drying shrinkage-induced strain on dv/v, and the impact of saturation *S*, induced by a varying external relative humidity, which always occur simultaneously. Another example of an inconclusive separation would be the response of *S* at different locations in the structure. The almost immediate response in the edge zone can be addressed using the transient term, while the diffusion-driven water transport in deeper sections of the structure is compara-

tively slow and can be addressed using the stationary term (Figure 30).

In order to make Equation (6.1) fully interpretable, we will need material models that are able to cover all of the effects summarized for individual material mixes with arbitrary scattering properties. In turn, the scattering properties should be defined via material parameters, e.g., elasticity, pore and aggregate size, which can be easily determined for each concrete, in which case both physics-based and data-driven surrogate models are conceivable. As soon as the individual arguments for the transient and the stationary terms can be predicted by means of concrete models, the total measured velocity variation can then be evaluated with respect to any remaining value that can be associated with the irreversible term as an indicator for damage.

However, this requirement only exists when a full interpretation becomes necessary. This is mostly the case regarding the identification of long-term damage development together with the separation from other long-term phenomena that are non-destructive. Given its sensitivity to microstructural changes, CWI is a suitable technology for the identification of spontaneous or short-term damage development in general, even if the transient and the stationary terms or the scattering properties are not fully known. In this case, even without an exact interpretation of the causes for velocity changes, CWI is still applicable as an early-warning system.

6.2 Coda Wave Interferometry for Early-warning Systems

Given that they are collected using CWI, time-series data are generally more complex to interpret than evaluating scalar differences, upon which most decisions regarding maintenance and repair are currently based in traditional engineering. On the one hand, time-series data pose a special challenge because new concepts for fast and reliable decision making must be established. As these decisions are often safety-critical and include far-reaching consequences. For example, when making decisions about the future of important and expensive infrastructure, building a foundation of trust in such structured data is a long-term process, and the interlocking data, methods, and processes must be brought into a sophisticated and robust framework. Furthermore, no unique solution or ideal monitoring system exist, and the composed technologies and models must be assessed individually for each building.

On the other hand, a large number of buildings exist worldwide, whose condition is unmonitored and therefore not fully known. Not only existing buildings are suitable, but new buildings can also be instrumented, whereby CWI is able to further support the construction process, e.g., track the hydation and strength development. Especially building types, which are cost-intensive to inspect, maintain and repair can profit from novel and innovative methods for condition assessment, e.g., early damage detection. Two characteristic and representative structures in Germany, the Gänstorbrücke bridge between Ulm and Neu-Ulm and the Scheidplatz underground station in Munich have been instrumented with CWI technology during the project and will be monitored during the upcoming years (Figure 31). For the bridge, the major objective is the prolongation of its service life after the identification of existing damage, using a set of NDT methods including CWI. For the underground station, potential microstructural changes will be investigated in the ceiling during planned static load redistributions. These demonstration sites will proof the potential of CWI on the structural level for buildings in operation where the results from the laboratory scale will be transferred to the structural scale. This in particular includes the separability of different effects on the ultrasonic velocity change, the robustness of the embedded transducers together with the measurement system, and the geometrical localization of any structural change.



Figure 31: Photographs of the two structures instrumented with CWI technology: the Gänstorbrücke bridge between UIm and Neu-UIm instrumented in September 2020 [166] and the Scheidplatz underground station in Munich instrumented in June 2022.

Comprehensive monitoring systems will be part of our future built environment. Such systems will include sophisticated sensor networks in connection with the matching NDT methods, data processing techniques, and interfaces that together support the decision making of engineers and authorities in the framework of a digital twin. Even when listing the single system components, it is noticeable that these systems will be characterized by a high degree of complexity and cannot be comprehensively controlled by a single person. Experts from multidisciplinary fields will have to continue working together on reliable, robust, and interpretable solutions, thus ensuring that systems remain controllable and that the final decision on suitable measures is left entirely to humans.

Appendices

1 Note on Related Literature

Publications

F. Diewald, N. Klein, C. M. Hechtl, T. Kraenkel, C. Gehlen, "Efficient Labelling of Air Voids in Hardened Concrete for Neural Network Applications Using Fused Image Data", Proceedings of the 3rd RILEM Spring Convention and Conference (RSCC 2020), 2021.

V. Holla, G. Vu, J. J. Timothy, F. Diewald, C. Gehlen, G. Meschke, "Computational Generation of Virtual Concrete Mesostructures", materials, 14(14), 3782, 2021.

G. Vu, F. Diewald, J. J. Timothy, C. Gehlen, G. Meschke, "Reduced Order Multiscale Simulation of Diffuse Damage in Concrete", materials, 14(14), 3830, 2021.

F. Malm, F. Diewald, K. Pinkert, "Non-destructive Inspection and Monitoring of Fractures in Concrete with Self-healing Properties", Fifth International Conference on Sustainable Construction Materials and Technologies, London, 2019.

Supervised Theses

E. Jägle, "Monitoring Cement and Concrete Hydration Using Coda Wave Interferometry", *Master's Thesis*, Technical University of Munich, 2022.

H. Olabi, "Charakterisierung der Mikrorissbildung von Beton", *Bachelor's Thesis*, Technical University of Munich, 2022.

J. Ernstberger, "Charakterisierung der Mikrorissbildung in Beton in Folge zentrischer Zugspannung", *Bachelor's Thesis*, Technical University of Munich, 2021.

F. Niewöhner, "Mikrorissschädigung von Betonproben infolge von Kriechen bei unterschiedlichen Druckbelastungen", *Bachelor's Thesis*, Technical University of Munich, 2021.

M. Härder, "Untersuchungen zum Feuchteverhalten tragender Lehmbaustoffe", *Master's Thesis*, Technical University of Munich & Bundesanstalt für Material-forschung und -prüfung, 2021.

A. Kamberi, "Monitoring der Entwicklung der Frühfestigkeit von Beton mittels diffusem Ultraschall", *Bachelor's Thesis*, Technical University of Munich, 2021.

S. Rier, "Untersuchungen zum Einfluss des Kriech- und Schwindverhaltens von Festbeton auf diffusen Ultraschall mittels der Codawellen-Interferometrie", *Master's Thesis*, Technical University of Munich, 2021.

C. M. Hechtl, "Automatisierte Charakterisierung von Luftporen in Festbeton", *Master's Thesis*, Technical University of Munich, 2020.

M. Schwarzer, "Einfluss der Betonzusammensetzung auf das Codasignal", *Master's Thesis*, Technical University of Munich, 2020.

M. Roger, "Detektion von Spannstahlbrüchen mittels Acoustic Emission - Durchführung und Auswertung von Bauteil- und Bauwerksversuchen", *Master's Thesis*, Technical University of Munich, 2020.

2 Author Contributions

The structure of the author contributions is in accordance with the author contributions structure of the journal, in which the original article appeared first.

Chapter 3 – Impact of Temperature and Moisture Variations on Coda Waves in Concrete

Conceptualization, Fabian Diewald; Data curation, Fabian Diewald; Formal analysis, Fabian Diewald; Funding acquisition, Marine, Denolle, Jithender Timothy and Christoph Gehlen; Investigation, Fabian Diewald, Marine Denolle and Jithender Timothy; Methodology, Fabian Diewald, Marine Denolle and Jithender Timothy; Project administration, Fabian Diewald and Christoph Gehlen; Resources, Marine Denolle and Christoph Gehlen; Software, Fabian Diewald; Supervision, Marine Denolle and Christoph Gehlen; Validation, Fabian Diewald, Marine Denolle, Jithender Timothy and Christoph Gehlen; Visualization, Fabian Diewald; Roles/Writing - original draft, Fabian Diewald; Writing - review & editing, Fabian Diewald, Marine Denolle, Jithender Timothy and Christoph Gehlen.

Chapter 4 – Impact of External Mechanical Loads on Coda Waves in Concrete

Conceptualization, Fabian Diewald; methodology, Fabian Diewald; software, Fabian Diewald and Niklas Epple; validation, Fabian Diewald, Niklas Epple, Christoph Gehlen and Ernst Niederleithinger; formal analysis, Fabian Diewald and Niklas Epple; investigation, Fabian Diewald and Niklas Epple; resources, Fabian Diewald; data curation, Fabian Diewald; writing—original draft preparation, Fabian Diewald and Niklas Epple; writing—review and editing, Fabian Diewald, Niklas Epple, Thomas Kränkel, Christoph Gehlen, and Ernst Niederleithinger; visualization, Fabian Diewald; supervision, Thomas Kränkel, Christoph Gehlen and Ernst Niederleithinger; project administration, Fabian Diewald, Niklas Epple, Christoph Gehlen, and Ernst Niederleithinger; funding acquisition, Fabian Diewald, Niklas Epple, Christoph Gehlen, and Ernst Niederleithinger. All authors have read and agreed to the published version of the manuscript.

Chapter 5 – Monitoring Early Cement Hydration with Coda Wave Interferometry

Conceptualization, Fabian Diewald; Data curation, Fabian Diewald and Linda Irbe; Formal analysis, Fabian Diewald and Linda Irbe; Funding acquisition, Christoph Gehlen; Investigation, Fabian Diewald, Linda Irbe, Thomas Kränkel, Alisa Machner and Christoph Gehlen; Methodology, Fabian Diewald; Project administration, Alisa Machner and Christoph Gehlen; Resources, Alisa Machner and Christoph Gehlen; Software, Fabian Diewald and Linda Irbe; Supervision, Alisa Machner and Christoph Gehlen; Validation, Fabian Diewald, Linda Irbe, Thomas Kränkel, Alisa Machner and Christoph Gehlen; Visualization, Fabian Diewald; Roles/Writing - original draft, Fabian Diewald; Writing - review & editing, Fabian Diewald, Linda Irbe, Thomas Kränkel, Alisa Machner and Christoph Gehlen

3 ChatGPT about Future Monitoring Systems for Civil Engineering Structures

The interview was conducted with the chatbot prototype *ChatGPT* [167], launched by *OpenAI* on November 30, 2022. Partly meant seriously.

January 13, 2023

Fabian Diewald: Welcome ChatGPT, you have been launched less than two months ago and attracted quite a lot of attention since then. Everyone is looking forward to your future work in general and in this interview, about your professional assessment on the future of monitoring systems for civil engineering structures!

ChatGPT: Thank you for your kind words. I am continually learning and updating my knowledge, so my understanding of the future of monitoring systems for civil engineering structures may change over time. However, currently, I can tell you that monitoring systems for civil engineering structures are becoming increasingly important as the need for more efficient and cost-effective ways to maintain and repair structures grows. Advancements in technology, such as the use of sensors, drones, and machine learning, are leading to more accurate and efficient monitoring systems. In the future, it is likely that these systems will become even more sophisticated and integrated into the overall design and construction process. Additionally, the use of cloud-based systems and the Internet of Things (IoT) will enable real-time monitoring and analysis of structures, allowing for more proactive maintenance and repairs. Overall, the future of monitoring systems for civil engineering structures is promising and will continue to play a crucial role in the safety and longevity of our built environment.

Fabian Diewald: That was quite a lot for the beginning. Can you elaborate a bit more on how future monitoring systems for integrity assessment will look like in twenty years?

ChatGPT: Sure, in twenty years it is likely that monitoring systems for integrity assessment of civil engineering structures will be highly advanced and integrated. The use of sensors, drones, and machine learning will become more prevalent, allowing for real-time monitoring and analysis of structures. This will enable more proactive maintenance and repairs, reducing the need for costly and disruptive interventions.

One aspect that is likely to be more developed is the integration of monitoring systems with the design and construction process. For example, the use of Building Information Modelling (BIM) will allow for more accurate and efficient monitoring of structures throughout their life cycle.

Another key aspect that will be more developed is the integration of monitoring

systems with the Internet of Things (IoT) and cloud computing. This will enable real-time data transfer and analysis, allowing for more accurate and efficient monitoring and maintenance of structures.

Virtual and Augmented Reality technologies will also be more prevalent, allowing for more immersive and interactive monitoring and analysis of structures. This will enable engineers and maintenance personnel to more effectively visualize and understand the condition of structures, allowing for more accurate and efficient decision-making. Overall, in twenty years, monitoring systems for integrity assessment will be highly advanced, integrated and will enable real-time data collection, analysis, and visualization, allowing for more accurate, efficient, and cost-effective maintenance of civil engineering structures.

Fabian Diewald: What trends do you see for detecting structural damage? **ChatGPT**: There are several trends in the development of methods for detecting structural damage that I see as likely to continue in the future:

- 1. Non-destructive testing (NDT) methods: NDT methods, such as ultrasound, thermal imaging, and X-ray imaging, are becoming increasingly popular for detecting structural damage. These methods are non-invasive, meaning they do not cause any damage to the structure being tested.
- 2. Machine learning and artificial intelligence: Machine learning and AI techniques are becoming increasingly prevalent in the development of damage detection methods. These techniques can be used to analyze sensor data and identify patterns that indicate structural damage.
- 3. Remote sensing: The use of drones and other remote sensing technologies is becoming more popular for damage detection. These technologies can be used to survey structures and gather data on their condition.
- 4. Vibration-based methods: Vibration-based methods, such as modal analysis and operational modal analysis, are becoming more popular for detecting structural damage. These methods can be used to identify changes in the dynamic behavior of a structure, which can indicate damage.
- 5. Structural health monitoring: This is a process of monitoring the structural integrity of a structure over time, using sensors to detect changes in the structure's behavior, such as cracks or deformations, that might indicate damage.

Overall, the trend is towards the integration of multiple methods, using sensor data and AI techniques to detect the structural damage, and using remote sensing and structural health monitoring for long-term monitoring of the structural integrity.

Fabian Diewald: Will Coda Wave Interferometry be part of such a comprehensive system?

ChatGPT: Coda Wave Interferometry (CWI) is a technique that can be used for the detection of structural damage. The technique uses the seismic coda, which is the residual noise that is left after the main energy from an earthquake has dissipated, to detect changes in the subsurface of a structure.

CWI has been used to detect damage in a variety of structures, including bridges, buildings, and dams, and it has been shown to be effective in detecting damage that is not visible on the surface.

It is likely that CWI will be part of a comprehensive monitoring system for civil engineering structures in the future. The technique can be used in combination with other methods, such as non-destructive testing and vibration-based methods, to provide a more comprehensive understanding of the condition of a structure.

Additionally, the integration of CWI with other technologies such as AI and machine learning, can improve the accuracy of the damage detection and make it more efficient.

It's worth noting that CWI can also be used to monitor underground structures such as mines, oil and gas pipelines, and tunnels. It is a versatile technique that can be used in a wide range of civil engineering structures.

Fabian Diewald: Thank you very much for this overview, ChatGPT! We will see, if your assessment will come true one day.

ChatGPT: You're welcome! It's always a pleasure to share my knowledge with you. It's important to note that my understanding of the future of monitoring systems for civil engineering structures is based on current trends and information available, it's not a definite prediction. However, I believe that the integration of advanced technologies such as AI, machine learning, sensors, drones, and the Internet of Things will lead to more accurate, efficient and cost-effective monitoring systems for civil engineering structures in the future.

References

- L. Beltrametti, A. Bottasso, M. Conti, C. Ferrari, and M. Piana, "Effetti della caduta del Ponte Morandi sull'economia," *Rivista di economia e politica dei trasporti*, vol. 2, 2018.
- [2] S. Invernizzi, F. Montagnoli, and A. Carpinteri, "Fatigue assessment of the collapsed XXth century cable-stayed polcevera bridge in genoa," *Procedia Structural Integrity*, vol. 18, pp. 237–244, 1 2019.
- [3] M. Morgese, F. Ansari, M. Domaneschi, and G. P. Cimellaro, "Postcollapse analysis of Morandi's Polcevera viaduct in Genoa Italy," *Journal* of Civil Structural Health Monitoring, vol. 10, pp. 69–85, 2 2020.
- [4] J. Rymsza, "Causes of the collapse of the Polcevera Viaduct in Genoa, Italy," *Applied Sciences 2021*, vol. 11, p. 8098, 8 2021.
- [5] P. Clemente, "Monitoring and evaluation of bridges: lessons from the Polcevera Viaduct collapse in Italy," *Journal of Civil Structural Health Monitoring*, vol. 10, pp. 177–182, 4 2020.
- [6] C. Gehlen, Probabilistische Lebensdauerbemessung von Stahlbetonbauwerken – Zuverlässigkeitsbetrachtungen zur wirksamen Vermeidung von Bewehrungskorrosion. PhD thesis, RWTH Aachen, 2000.
- [7] W. Breit, C. Dauberschmidt, C. Gehlen, C. Sodeikat, A. Taffe, and U. Wiens, "Zum Ansatz eines kritischen Chloridgehaltes bei Stahlbetonbauwerken," *Beton- und Stahlbetonbau*, vol. 106, pp. 290–298, 5 2011.
- [8] S. von Greve-Dierfeld and C. Gehlen, "Performance based durability design, carbonation part 1 – benchmarking of european present design rules," *Structural Concrete*, vol. 17, pp. 309–328, 9 2016.
- [9] S. von Greve-Dierfeld and C. Gehlen, "Performance-based durability design, carbonation part 2 – classification of concrete," *Struct. Concr.*, vol. 17, pp. 523–532, 12 2016.
- [10] S. von Greve-Dierfeld and C. Gehlen, "Performance-based durability design, carbonation, part 3: Psf approach and a proposal for the revision of deemed-to-satisfy rules," *Structural Concrete*, vol. 17, pp. 718–728, 12 2016.

- [11] D. Sanio, J. Löschmann, P. Mark, and M. A. Ahrens, "Bauwerksmessungen versus Rechenkonzepte zur Beurteilung von Spannstahlermüdung in Betonbrücken," *Bautechnik*, vol. 95, pp. 99–110, 2 2018.
- [12] S. Küttenbaum, S. Maack, T. Braml, A. Taffe, and T. Strübing, "Bewertung von Bestandsbauwerken mit gemessenen Daten, Teil 2," *Beton- und Stahlbetonbau*, vol. 116, pp. 183–199, 3 2021.
- [13] "BASt Brückenstatistik." https://www.bast.de/DE/Statistik/ Bruecken/Brueckenstatistik.html, 2021. Accessed: 2023-01-06.
- [14] C. Gehlen, S. V. Greve-Dierfeld, and K. Osterminski, "Modelling of ageing and corrosion processes in reinforced concrete structures," *Non-Destructive Evaluation of Reinforced Concrete Structures: Deterioration Processes and Standard Test Methods*, pp. 57–81, 1 2010.
- [15] K. Aki, "Analysis of the seismic coda of local earthquakes as scattered waves," *Journal of Geophysical Research*, vol. 74, pp. 615–631, 1 1969.
- [16] K. Aki and B. Chouet, "Origin of coda waves: Source, attenuation, and scattering effects," *Journal of Geophysical Research*, vol. 80, pp. 3322– 3342, 8 1975.
- [17] R. Snieder, A. Grêt, H. Douma, and J. Scales, "Coda wave interferometry for estimating nonlinear behavior in seismic velocity," *Science*, vol. 295, pp. 2253–2255, 3 2002.
- [18] R. Snieder, "The theory of coda wave interferometry," *Pure and Applied Geophysics*, vol. 163, pp. 455–473, 3 2006.
- [19] T. Planès and E. Larose, "A review of ultrasonic Coda Wave Interferometry in concrete," *Cement and Concrete Research*, vol. 53, pp. 248–255, 2013.
- [20] C. Sens-Schönfelder and U. Wegler, "Passive image interferometry and seasonal variations of seismic velocities at merapi volcano, indonesia," *Geophysical Research Letters*, vol. 33, no. 21, p. 547, 2006.
- [21] "DFG GEPRIS FOR 2825: Concrete Damage Assessment by Coda Waves (CoDA)." https://gepris.dfg.de/gepris/projekt/ 398216472?language=en, 2019. mboxAccessed: 2023-01-06.
- [22] E. Niederleithinger, N. Epple, D. F. Barroso, F. Clauß, M. A. Ahrens, and P. Mark, "Ultraschallbasierte Überwachung von Stahl- und Spannbetonkonstruktionen – erste Ergebnisse der DFG-Forschungsgruppe 2825 CoDA," 4. Brückenkolloquium, pp. 473–480, 2020.

- [23] G. Vu, F. Diewald, J. J. Timothy, C. Gehlen, and G. Meschke, "Reduced order multiscale simulation of diffuse damage in concrete," *Materials*, vol. 14, p. 3830, 7 2021.
- [24] V. Holla, G. Vu, J. J. Timothy, F. Diewald, C. Gehlen, and G. Meschke, "Computational generation of virtual concrete mesostructures," *Materials*, vol. 14, p. 3782, 7 2021.
- [25] C. Finger, L. Saydak, G. Vu, J. J. Timothy, G. Meschke, and E. H. Saenger, "Sensitivity of ultrasonic coda wave interferometry to material damage observations from a virtual concrete lab," *Materials*, vol. 14, p. 4033, 7 2021.
- [26] E. H. Saenger, C. Finger, S. Karimpouli, and P. Tahmasebi, "Single-station coda wave interferometry: A feasibility study using machine learning," *Materials*, vol. 14, no. 13, 2021.
- [27] G. Vu, J. J. Timothy, D. S. Singh, L. A. Saydak, E. H. Saenger, G. Meschke, and J. A. F. O. Correia, "Numerical simulation-based damage identification in concrete," *Modelling*, vol. 2, pp. 355–369, 8 2021.
- [28] F. Clauß, N. Epple, M. A. Ahrens, E. Niederleithinger, and P. Mark, "Comparison of experimentally determined two-dimensional strain fields and mapped ultrasonic data processed by coda wave interferometry," *Sensors*, vol. 20, p. 4023, 7 2020.
- [29] E. Niederleithinger, X. Wang, N. Epple, T. Schumacher, S. Ahmed, and P. Klikowicz, "Ultrasonic coda wave monitoring of concrete structures: First experiences with large-scale experiments and real structures," *Proceedings of the 10th International Conference on Bridge Maintenance, Safety and Management, IABMAS 2020*, pp. 2525–2531, 4 2021.
- [30] F. Clauß, M. A. Ahrens, and P. Mark, "Thermo-mechanical experiments on reinforced concrete beams: Assessing thermal, mechanical, and mixed impacts on fiber optic measurements," *Structural Concrete*, vol. 23, pp. 3521–3537, 12 2022.
- [31] F. Clauß, N. Epple, M. A. Ahrens, E. Niederleithinger, and P. Mark, "Correlation of load-bearing behavior of reinforced concrete members and velocity changes of coda waves," *Materials*, vol. 15, p. 738, 1 2022.
- [32] Y. Zhang, T. Planès, E. Larose, A. Obermann, C. Rospars, and G. Moreau, "Diffuse ultrasound monitoring of stress and damage development on a

15-ton concrete beam," *The Journal of the Acoustical Society of America*, vol. 139, p. 1691, 4 2016.

- [33] T. Planès, E. Larose, V. Rossetto, and L. Margerin, "Locadiff: Locating a weak change with diffuse ultrasound," *AIP Conference Proceedings*, vol. 1511, p. 405, 1 2013.
- [34] S. Grabke, F. Clauß, K. U. Bletzinger, M. A. Ahrens, P. Mark, and R. Wüchner, "Damage detection at a reinforced concrete specimen with coda wave interferometry," *Materials*, vol. 14, p. 5013, 9 2021.
- [35] S. Grabke, K. U. Bletzinger, and R. Wüchner, "Development of a finite element-based damage localization technique for concrete by applying coda wave interferometry," *Engineering Structures*, vol. 269, p. 114585, 10 2022.
- [36] R. Springenschmid, *Betontechnologie für die Praxis*. Beuth Verlag, 2 ed., 2018.
- [37] G. Wischers, "Einfluss der Zusammensetzung des Betons auf seine Frühfestigkeit," *Beton*, vol. 13, pp. 427–432, 1963.
- [38] "DIN EN 197-1:2011-11, Zement Teil 1: Zusammensetzung, Anforderungen und Konformitätskriterien von Normalzement; Deutsche Fassung EN 197-1:2011," Standard, Deutsches Institut für Normung, Berlin, 2011.
- [39] "ASTM C150-07: Specification for Portland Cement," Standard, ASTM International, West Conshohocken, PA, USA, 12 2012.
- [40] B. Pichler and C. Hellmich, "Upscaling quasi-brittle strength of cement paste and mortar: A multi-scale engineering mechanics model," *Cement and Concrete Research*, vol. 41, pp. 467–476, 5 2011.
- [41] G. Constantinides and F. J. Ulm, "The effect of two types of c-s-h on the elasticity of cement-based materials: Results from nanoindentation and micromechanical modeling," *Cement and Concrete Research*, vol. 34, pp. 67–80, 1 2004.
- [42] K. Velez, S. Maximilien, D. Damidot, G. Fantozzi, and F. Sorrentino, "Determination by nanoindentation of elastic modulus and hardness of pure constituents of portland cement clinker," *Cement and Concrete Research*, vol. 31, pp. 555–561, 4 2001.

- [43] C. J. Haecker, E. J. Garboczi, J. W. Bullard, R. B. Bohn, Z. Sun, S. P. Shah, and T. Voigt, "Modeling the linear elastic properties of portland cement paste," *Cement and Concrete Research*, vol. 35, pp. 1948–1960, 10 2005.
- [44] N. Roussel, H. Bessaies-Bey, S. Kawashima, D. Marchon, K. Vasilic, and R. Wolfs, "Recent advances on yield stress and elasticity of fresh cementbased materials," *Cement and Concrete Research*, vol. 124, p. 105798, 10 2019.
- [45] J. Schön, Physical properties of rocks : fundamentals and principles of petrophysics, vol. 18. Elsevier B.V., 1996.
- [46] I. Lillamand, J. F. Chaix, M. A. Ploix, and V. Garnier, "Acoustoelastic effect in concrete material under uniaxial compressive loading," NDT & E International, vol. 43, pp. 655–660, 11 2010.
- [47] S. Popovics, J. L. Rose, and J. S. Popovics, "The behaviour of ultrasonic pulses in concrete," *Cement and Concrete Research*, vol. 20, pp. 259– 270, 3 1990.
- [48] B. C. Kim and J. Y. Kim, "Characterization of ultrasonic properties of concrete," *Mechanics Research Communications*, vol. 36, pp. 207–214, 3 2009.
- [49] K. L. Scrivener and K. M. Nemati, "The percolation of pore space in the cement paste/aggregate interfacial zone of concrete," *Cement and Concrete Research*, vol. 26, pp. 35–40, 1 1996.
- [50] K. L. Scrivener, A. K. C. Lyon, and F. P. Laugesen, "The interfacial transition zone (itz) between cement paste and aggregate in concrete," *Interface Science*, vol. 12, pp. 411–421, 2004.
- [51] Z. Jia, Y. Han, Y. Zhang, C. Qiu, C. Hu, and Z. Li, "Quantitative characterization and elastic properties of interfacial transition zone around coarse aggregate in concrete," *Journal Wuhan University of Technology, Materials Science Edition*, vol. 32, pp. 838–844, 8 2017.
- [52] T. Mori and K. Tanaka, "Average stress in matrix and average elastic energy of materials with misfitting inclusions," *Acta metallurgica*, vol. 21, no. 5, pp. 571–574, 1973.
- [53] E. C. David and R. W. Zimmerman, "Pore structure model for elastic wave velocities in fluid-saturated sandstones," *J. Geophys. Res.*, vol. 117, 7 2012.

- [54] C. Grosse, Quantitative zerstörungsfreie Prüfung von Baustoffen mittels Schallemissionsanalyse und Ultraschall. PhD thesis, Universität Stuttgart, 2 2013.
- [55] H. Yildirim and O. Sengul, "Modulus of elasticity of substandard and normal concretes," *Construction and Building Materials*, vol. 25, pp. 1645– 1652, 4 2011.
- [56] K. Wesche and W. Manns, "Résultats d'une enquête internationale sur la détermination du module d'élasticité du béton en compression," *Materials* and Structures, vol. 3, no. 3, pp. 179–196, 1970.
- [57] W. Voigt, *Lehrbuch der Kristallphysik (mit Ausschluss der Kristalloptik)*, vol. 1. Leipzig und Berlin: B.G Teubner, 1910.
- [58] A. Reuss, "Berechnung der Fließgrenze von Mischkristallen auf Grund der Plastizitätsbedingung für Einkristalle," ZAMM - Journal of Applied Mathematics and Mechanics / Zeitschrift für Angewandte Mathematik und Mechanik, vol. 9, pp. 49–58, 1 1929.
- [59] H. He and K. Senetakis, "A study of wave velocities and poisson ratio of recycled concrete aggregate," *Soils and Foundations*, vol. 56, pp. 593– 607, 8 2016.
- [60] K. Alexandrov and T. Ryzhova, "Elastic properties of rock-forming minerals: III Feldspars," *Bulletin of the Academy of Sciences, USSR, Geophysical Series*, vol. 10, pp. 129–131, 1962.
- [61] H. Gebrande, "Rock forming minerals: Datasheet from Landolt-Börnstein - Group V Geophysics." https://materials.springer.com/ bp/docs/978-3-540-31365-6. Accessed 2022-06-25.
- [62] A. Machner, M. Zajac, M. B. Haha, K. O. Kjellsen, M. R. Geiker, and K. D. Weerdt, "Portland metakaolin cement containing dolomite or limestone – similarities and differences in phase assemblage and compressive strength," *Construction and Building Materials*, vol. 157, pp. 214–225, 12 2017.
- [63] P. Shafigh, H. B. Mahmud, M. Z. Jumaat, and M. Zargar, "Agricultural wastes as aggregate in concrete mixtures – a review," *Construction and Building Materials*, vol. 53, pp. 110–117, 2 2014.

- [64] M. Thiedeitz, B. Ostermaier, and T. Kränkel, "Rice husk ash as an additive in mortar – contribution to microstructural, strength and durability performance," *Resources, Conservation and Recycling*, vol. 184, p. 106389, 9 2022.
- [65] "ASTM C494/C494M-17: Specification for Chemical Admixtures for Concrete," Standard, ASTM International, West Conshohocken, PA, USA, 3 2020.
- [66] T. C. Powers, "A working hypothesis for further studies of frost resistance of concrete," *Journal Proceedings*, vol. 41, pp. 245–272, 1 1945.
- [67] R. Auberg, Zuverlässige Pr
 üfung des Frost- und an-Widerstands von Beton mit dem CDF- und CIF-Test. Shaker, als ms. gedr. ed., 1999.
- [68] M. Mueller, *Frost-Tausalz-Angriff auf Beton Neue Erkenntnisse zum Schadensmechanismus*. PhD thesis, Bauhaus Universität Weimar, 2021.
- [69] D. W. Ho and R. K. Lewis, "Carbonation of concrete and its prediction," *Cement and Concrete Research*, vol. 17, pp. 489–504, 5 1987.
- [70] A. V. Saetta, B. A. Schrefler, and R. V. Vitaliani, "The carbonation of concrete and the mechanism of moisture, heat and carbon dioxide flow through porous materials," *Cement and Concrete Research*, vol. 23, pp. 761–772, 7 1993.
- [71] L. L. Fritz Hunkeler, "Anforderungen an den Karbonatisierungswiderstand von Betonen," *Eidgenössisches Departement für Umwelt, Verkehr, Energie und Kommunikation, Bundesamt für Strassen*, 2012.
- [72] W. Breit, *Critical corrosion-inducing chloride content state of the art and new investigation results*. Düsseldorf: Verlag Bau + Technik, 2001.
- [73] U. Angst, B. Elsener, C. K. Larsen, and Øystein Vennesland, "Critical chloride content in reinforced concrete — a review," *Cement and Concrete Research*, vol. 39, pp. 1122–1138, 12 2009.
- [74] H. Grube, Ursachen des Schwindens von Beton und Auswirkungen auf Betonbauteile, vol. 52 of Schriftenreihe der Zementindustrie. Düsseldorf: Beton-Verl., 1991.
- [75] L. Meyer, Zum Einfluss der Kontaktzone bei der Modellierung des Elastizitätsmoduls von Beton. PhD thesis, RWTH Aachen, 2007.

- [76] J. Krautkrämer and H. Krautkrämer, "Werkstoffprüfung mit Ultraschall," Springer Verlag, Berlin Heidelberg, 1986.
- [77] Ö. Yilmaz, Seismic Data Analysis. Society of Exploration Geophysicists, 1 2001.
- [78] "PyCMG Concrete Mesostructure Generator." https://github.com/ jtimo/pycmg.git, 2021. Accessed: 2023-01-13.
- [79] P. Anugonda, J. S. Wiehn, and J. A. Turner, "Diffusion of ultrasound in concrete," *Ultrasonics*, vol. 39, pp. 429–435, 10 2001.
- [80] T. Planès, E. Larose, L. Margerin, V. Rossetto, and C. Sens-Schönfelder, "Decorrelation and phase-shift of coda waves induced by local changes: multiple scattering approach and numerical validation," *Waves in Random and Complex Media*, vol. 24, pp. 99–125, 4 2014.
- [81] J. S. Popovics and J. L. Rose, "A survey of developments in ultrasonic nde of concrete," *IEEE Transactions on Ultrasonics, Ferroelectrics, and Frequency Control*, vol. 41, pp. 140–143, 1994.
- [82] G. Poupinet, W. L. Ellsworth, and J. Frechet, "Monitoring velocity variations in the crust using earthquake doublets: An application to the calaveras fault, california," *Journal of Geophysical Research: Solid Earth*, vol. 89, no. B7, pp. 5719–5731, 1984.
- [83] R. Snieder, "Imaging and averaging in complex media," *Diffuse Waves in Complex Media*, pp. 405–454, 1999.
- [84] G. Poupinet, W. L. Ellsworth, and J. Frechet, "Monitoring velocity variations in the crust using earthquake doublets: An application to the calaveras fault, california," *Journal of Geophysical Research: Solid Earth*, vol. 89, pp. 5719–5731, 7 1984.
- [85] P. M. Roberts, M. C. Fehler, P. A. Johnson, and W. S. Phillips, "Active doublet method for measuring small changes in physical properties," Patent, Los Alamos National Lab. (LANL), USA, 1 1994.
- [86] C. Sens-Schönfelder and U. Wegler, "Passive image interferemetry and seasonal variations of seismic velocities at Merapi Volcano, Indonesia," *Geophysical Research Letters*, vol. 33, nov 2006.
- [87] E. Niederleithinger and C. Wunderlich, "Influence of small temperature variations on the ultrasonic velocity in concrete," *AIP Conference Proceedings*, vol. 1511, pp. 390–397, 2013.

- [88] P. Fröjd and P. Ulriksen, "Detecting damage events in concrete using diffuse ultrasound structural health monitoring during strong environmental variations," *Structural Health Monitoring*, vol. 17, no. 2, pp. 410–419, 2018.
- [89] D. P. Schurr, J. Y. Kim, K. G. Sabra, and L. J. Jacobs, "Damage detection in concrete using coda wave interferometry," *NDT & E International*, vol. 44, pp. 728–735, 12 2011.
- [90] A. Quiviger, C. Payan, J. F. Chaix, V. Garnier, and J. Salin, "Effect of the presence and size of a real macro-crack on diffuse ultrasound in concrete," *NDT and E International*, vol. 45, pp. 128–132, jan 2012.
- [91] E. Niederleithinger, J. Wolf, F. Mielentz, H. Wiggenhauser, and S. Pirskawetz, "Embedded ultrasonic transducers for active and passive concrete monitoring," *Sensors*, vol. 15, no. 5, pp. 9756–9772, 2015.
- [92] H. Jiang, J. Zhang, and R. Jiang, "Stress Evaluation for Rocks and Structural Concrete Members through Ultrasonic Wave Analysis: Review," *Journal of Materials in Civil Engineering*, vol. 29, no. 10, p. 04017172, 2017.
- [93] J. Chakraborty, A. Katunin, P. Klikowicz, and M. Salamak, "Early Crack Detection of Reinforced Concrete Structure Using Embedded Sensors," *Sensors*, vol. 19, p. 3879, sep 2019.
- [94] A. Narayanan, Ali Sheikh Ali, B. Delsaute, C. Pierre, and A. Deraemaeker, "Automated and continuous monitoring of freeze-thaw damage in concrete using embedded piezoelectric transducers," *Lecture Notes in Civil Engineering*, vol. 254 LNCE, pp. 843–851, 2023.
- [95] S. Liu, Z. B. Bundur, J. Zhu, and R. D. Ferron, "Evaluation of self-healing of internal cracks in biomimetic mortar using coda wave interferometry," *Cement and Concrete Research*, vol. 83, pp. 70–78, 5 2016.
- [96] S. Mehdinia, K. S. T. Chopperla, A. Hafiz, T. Schumacher, and J. H. Ideker, "Ultrasonic coda wave monitoring of alkali-silica reactivity in concrete laboratory prisms," *Materials Evaluation*, vol. 80, pp. 40–51, 10 2022.
- [97] E. Ohdaira and N. Masuzawa, "Water content and its effect on ultrasound propagation in concrete - the possibility of NDE," *Ultrasonics*, vol. 38, no. 1, pp. 546–552, 2000.

- [98] S. Popovics, "Effects of uneven moisture distribution on the strength of and wave velocity in concrete," *Ultrasonics*, vol. 43, pp. 429–434, may 2005.
- [99] F. D. Murnaghan, "Finite deformations of an elastic solid," *American Journal of Mathematics*, vol. 59, p. 235, 4 1937.
- [100] D. S. Hughes and J. L. Kelly, "Second-order elastic deformation of solids," *Physical Review*, vol. 92, p. 1145, 12 1953.
- [101] Y. Zhang, O. Abraham, F. Grondin, A. Loukili, V. Tournat, A. L. Duff, B. Lascoup, and O. Durand, "Study of stress-induced velocity variation in concrete under direct tensile force and monitoring of the damage level by using thermally-compensated coda wave interferometry," *Ultrasonics*, vol. 52, pp. 1038–1045, 12 2012.
- [102] Y. Zhang, O. Abraham, V. Tournat, A. L. Duff, B. Lascoup, A. Loukili, F. Grondin, and O. Durand, "Validation of a thermal bias control technique for Coda Wave Interferometry (CWI)," *Ultrasonics*, vol. 53, pp. 658–664, 3 2013.
- [103] F. Diewald, N. Epple, T. Kraenkel, C. Gehlen, and E. Niederleithinger, "Impact of external mechanical loads on coda waves in concrete," *Materials*, vol. 15, p. 5482, 8 2022.
- [104] A. Hafiz and T. Schumacher, "Monitoring of stresses in concrete using ultrasonic coda wave comparison technique," *Journal of Nondestructive Evaluation*, vol. 37, p. 73, 2018.
- [105] B. Hilloulin, Y. Zhang, O. Abraham, A. Loukili, F. Grondin, O. Durand, and V. Tournat, "Small crack detection in cementitious materials using nonlinear coda wave modulation," *NDT & E International*, vol. 68, pp. 98– 104, 12 2014.
- [106] A. Deraemaeker and C. Dumoulin, "Embedding ultrasonic transducers in concrete: A lifelong monitoring technology," *Construction and Building Materials*, vol. 194, pp. 42–50, 1 2019.
- [107] E. Larose, J. D. Rosny, L. Margerin, D. Anache, P. Gouedard, M. Campillo, and B. V. Tiggelen, "Observation of multiple scattering of khz vibrations in a concrete structure and application to monitoring weak changes," *Physical Review E - Statistical, Nonlinear, and Soft Matter Physics*, vol. 73, p. 016609, 1 2006.

- [108] S. Mehdinia, C. K. S. Teja, A. Hafiz, T. Schumacher, and J. H. Ideker, "Ultrasonic coda wave monitoring of alkali-silica reactivity in concrete laboratory prisms," *Materials Evaluation*, vol. 80, 2022.
- [109] S. C. Stähler, C. Sens-Schönfelder, and E. Niederleithinger, "Monitoring stress changes in a concrete bridge with coda wave interferometry," *The Journal of the Acoustical Society of America*, vol. 129, p. 1945, 4 2011.
- [110] J.-B. Legland, Y. Zhang, O. Abraham, O. Durand, and V. Tournat, "Evaluation of crack status in a meter-size concrete structure using the ultrasonic nonlinear coda wave interferometry," *The Journal of the Acoustical Society* of America, vol. 142, p. 2233, 10 2017.
- [111] Q.-Y. Wang, F. Brenguier, M. Campillo, A. Lecointre, T. Takeda, and Y. Aoki, "Seasonal crustal seismic velocity changes throughout Japan," *Journal of Geophysical Research: Solid Earth*, vol. 122, no. 10, pp. 7987– 8002, 2017.
- [112] K.-F. Feng, H.-H. Huang, Y.-J. Hsu, and Y.-M. Wu, "Controls on seasonal variations of crustal seismic velocity in taiwan using single-station crosscomponent analysis of ambient noise interferometry," *Journal of Geophysical Research: Solid Earth*, vol. 126, no. 11, p. e2021JB022650, 2021.
- [113] L. Ermert, E. Cabral-Cano, E. Chaussard, D. Solano-Rojas, L. Quintanar, D. Morales Padilla, E. A. Fernandez-Torres, and M. A. Denolle, "Probing environmental and tectonic changes underneath ciudad de méxico with the urban seismic field," *EGUsphere*, pp. 1–33, 2023.
- [114] T. Clements and M. Denolle, "The seismic signature of California's earthquakes, droughts, and floods," *Journal of Geophysical Research: Solid Earth*, vol. XX, no. X, p. XX, 2023.
- [115] H. Sun and J. Zhu, "Thermal modulation of nonlinear ultrasonic wave for concrete damage evaluation," *The Journal of the Acoustical Society of America*, vol. 145, p. EL405, 5 2019.
- [116] C. Sens-Schönfelder and U. Wegler, "Passive image interferemetry and seasonal variations of seismic velocities at Merapi volcano, Indonesia," *Geophysical Research Letters*, vol. 33, 11 2006.
- [117] C. Hadziioannou, E. Larose, and O. Coutant, "Stability of monitoring weak changes in multiply scattering media with ambient noise correlation: Laboratory experiments," *The Journal of the Acoustical Society of America*, vol. 125, p. 3688, 2009.

- [118] C. Yuan, J. Bryan, and M. Denolle, "Numerical comparison of time-, frequency-and wavelet-domain methods for coda wave interferometry," *Geophysical Journal International*, vol. 226, no. 2, pp. 828–846, 2021.
- [119] E. Niederleithinger, X. Wang, M. Herbrand, and M. Müller, "Processing ultrasonic data by coda wave interferometry to monitor load tests of concrete beams," *Sensors*, vol. 18, no. 6, 2018.
- [120] S. Mak, L. S. Chan, A. M. Chandler, and R. C. Koo, "Coda Q estimates in the Hong Kong region," *Journal of Asian Earth Sciences*, vol. 24, pp. 127– 136, 10 2004.
- [121] M. Calvet and L. Margerin, "Lapse-time dependence of coda Q: Anisotropic multiple-scattering models and application to the Pyrenees," *Bulletin of the Seismological Society of America*, vol. 103, no. 3, pp. 1993– 2010, 2013.
- [122] Y. Lee, S. T. Yi, M. S. Kim, and J. K. Kim, "Evaluation of a basic creep model with respect to autogenous shrinkage," *Cement and Concrete Research*, vol. 36, pp. 1268–1278, 7 2006.
- [123] L. Wu, N. Farzadnia, C. Shi, Z. Zhang, and H. Wang, "Autogenous shrinkage of high performance concrete: A review," *Construction and Building Materials*, vol. 149, pp. 62–75, 9 2017.
- [124] J. K. Kim and C. S. Lee, "Prediction of differential drying shrinkage in concrete," *Cement and Concrete Research*, vol. 28, pp. 985–994, 7 1998.
- [125] A. Fabbri, J. Corvisier, A. Schubnel, F. Brunet, B. Goffé, G. Rimmele, and V. Barlet-Gouédard, "Effect of carbonation on the hydro-mechanical properties of portland cements," *Cement and Concrete Research*, vol. 39, pp. 1156–1163, 12 2009.
- [126] P. Fröjd and P. Ulriksen, "Frequency selection for coda wave interferometry in concrete structures," *Ultrasonics*, vol. 80, pp. 1–8, 9 2017.
- [127] D. F. Barroso, N. Epple, E. Niederleithinger, F. M. Agugliaro, and E. Salmerón-Manzano, "A portable low-cost ultrasound measurement device for concrete monitoring," *Inventions*, vol. 6, p. 36, 5 2021.
- [128] H. Sogbossi, J. Verdier, and S. Multon, "Permeability and damage of partially saturated concrete exposed to elevated temperature," *Cement and Concrete Composites*, vol. 109, p. 103563, 5 2020.

- [129] I. Hager, "Behaviour of cement concrete at high temperature," Bulletin of the Polish Academy of Sciences: Technical Sciences, vol. 61, pp. 145– 154, 3 2013.
- [130] F. Grondin, H. Dumontet, A. B. Hamida, and H. Boussa, "Micromechanical contributions to the behaviour of cement-based materials: Two-scale modelling of cement paste and concrete in tension at high temperatures," *Cement and Concrete Composites*, vol. 33, pp. 424–435, 3 2011.
- [131] N. Hearn, "Effect of shrinkage and load-induced cracking on water permeability of concrete," *ACI Materials Journal*, vol. 96, pp. 234–241, 3 1999.
- [132] J. C. Mindeguia, P. Pimienta, A. Noumowé, and M. Kanema, "Temperature, pore pressure and mass variation of concrete subjected to high temperature - experimental and numerical discussion on spalling risk," *Cement and Concrete Research*, vol. 40, pp. 477–487, 3 2010.
- [133] Z. P. Bažant, "Constitutive equation for concrete creep and shrinkage based on thermodynamics of multiphase systems," *Matériaux et Constructions*, vol. 3, pp. 3–36, 1 1970.
- [134] Q. Zhou and F. P. Glasser, "Thermal stability and decomposition mechanisms of ettringite at <120 °C," *Cement and Concrete Research*, vol. 31, pp. 1333–1339, 9 2001.
- [135] "DIN EN 1992-1-1:2011-01, Eurocode 2: Bemessung und Konstruktion von Stahlbeton- und Spannbetontragwerken-Teil 1-1: Allgemeine Bemessungsregeln und Regeln für den Hochbau," Standard, Deutsches Institut für Normung, Berlin, 2011.
- [136] L. Yang, H. Jia, L. Han, H. Zhang, and L. Tang, "Hysteresis in the ultrasonic parameters of saturated sandstone during freezing and thawing and correlations with unfrozen water content," *Journal of Rock Mechanics and Geotechnical Engineering*, vol. 13, no. 5, pp. 1078–1092, 2021.
- [137] C. Wunderlich and E. Niederleithinger, "Evaluation of temperature influence on ultrasound velocity in concrete by coda wave interferometry," *RILEM Bookseries*, vol. 6, pp. 227–232, 2012.
- [138] R. L. Weaver, "Diffuse elastic waves at a free surface," *The Journal of the Acoustical Society of America*, vol. 78, no. 1, pp. 131–136, 1985.

- [139] C. Donaldson, T. Winder, C. Caudron, and R. S. White, "Crustal seismic velocity responds to a magmatic intrusion and seasonal loading in iceland's northern volcanic zone," *Science advances*, vol. 5, no. 11, p. 6642, 2019.
- [140] P. J. Monteiro, S. A. Miller, and A. Horvath, "Towards sustainable concrete," *Nature Materials*, vol. 16, pp. 698–699, 6 2017.
- [141] H. Zhan, H. Jiang, C. Zhuang, J. Zhang, and R. Jiang, "Estimation of stresses in concrete by using coda wave interferometry to establish an acoustoelastic modulus database," *Sensors*, vol. 20, p. 4031, 7 2020.
- [142] B. Zhong and J. Zhu, "Applications of stretching technique and time window effects on ultrasonic velocity monitoring in concrete," *Applied Sciences*, vol. 12, p. 7130, 7 2022.
- [143] H. Jiang, M. Asce, H. Zhan, J. Zhang, R. Jiang, C. Zhuang, and P. Fan, "Detecting stress changes and damage in full-size concrete tbeam and slab with ultrasonic coda waves," *Journal of Structural Engineering*, vol. 147, p. 04021140, 7 2021.
- [144] S. Popovics and J. S. Popovics, "Effect of stresses on the ultrasonic pulse velocity in concrete," *Materials and Structures*, vol. 24, pp. 15–23, 1 1991.
- [145] C. Payan, V. Garnier, J. Moysan, and P. A. Johnson, "Determination of third order elastic constants in a complex solid applying coda wave interferometry," *Applied Physics Letters*, vol. 94, no. 1, pp. 1–3, 2009.
- [146] J. G. Van Mier, *Fracture processes of concrete*, vol. 12. CRC Press, 1996.
- [147] K. M. Nemati, P. J. Monteiro, and K. L. Scrivener, "Analysis of compressive stress-induced cracks in concrete," *ACI Materials Journal*, vol. 95, pp. 617–630, 1998.
- [148] K. Wesche, "Baustoffe für uteile Band 2: Beton, Mauerwerk (Nichtmetallisch-anorganische Stoffe): Herstellung, Eigenschaften, Verwendung, Dauerhaftigkeit," *Vieweg+Teubner Verlag*, vol. 2, 1993.
- [149] M. H. Witt, *Untersuchungen zur Kerbtiefe bei Querscheinfugen in Betonfahrbahnen*. PhD thesis, Technical University of Munich, 2018.
- [150] H. S. Müller and F. Acosta, *Time dependent effects of structural concrete: Basics for constitutive modelling towards the next generation of ENEC2*, pp. 395–413. Ernst und Sohn, 2014.

- [151] H. S. Müller and V. Kvitsel, "Kriechen und Schwinden von Beton," Betonund Stahlbetonbau, vol. 97, pp. 8–19, 1 2002.
- [152] F. Diewald, L. Irbe, T. Kraenkel, A. Machner, and C. Gehlen, "Monitoring early cement hydration with coda wave interferometry," *Proceedings of the 13th International Workshop on Structural Health Monitoring*, p. 5482, 2022.
- [153] P. J. M. Monteiro, S. A. Miller, and A. Horvath, "Towards sustainable concrete," *Nature materials*, vol. 16, no. 7, pp. 698–699, 2017.
- [154] K. Aki, "Theory of earthquake prediction with special reference to monitoring of the quality factor of lithosphere by the coda method," in *Pract Appr to Earthquake Pred and Warning* (C. Kisslinger and T. Rikitake, eds.), vol. 72, pp. 219–230, Springer Netherlands, 1985.
- [155] O. I. Lobkis and R. L. Weaver, "Coda-wave interferometry in finite solids: recovery of p-to-s conversion rates in an elastodynamic billiard," *Phys rev letters*, vol. 90, no. 25 Pt 1, p. 254302, 2003.
- [156] D. Jansen, F. Goetz-Neunhoeffer, B. Lothenbach, and J. Neubauer, "The early hydration of ordinary portland cement (opc): An approach comparing measured heat flow with calculated heat flow from qxrd," *Cement and Concrete Research*, vol. 42, no. 1, pp. 134–138, 2012.
- [157] H. Taylor, Cement chemistry. Thomas Telford Publishing, 2 ed., 1997.
- [158] C. Hesse, F. Goetz-Neunhoeffer, and J. Neubauer, "A new approach in quantitative in-situ xrd of cement pastes: Correlation of heat flow curves with early hydration reactions," *Cement and Concrete Research*, vol. 41, pp. 123–128, 01 2011.
- [159] B. Lothenbach and M. Zajac, "Application of thermodynamic modelling to hydrated cements," *Cement and Concrete Research*, vol. 123, p. 105779, 2019.
- [160] B. Lothenbach, D. A. Kulik, T. Matschei, M. Balonis, L. Baquerizo, B. Dilnesa, G. D. Miron, and R. J. Myers, "Cemdata18: A chemical thermodynamic database for hydrated portland cements and alkali-activated materials," *Cement and Concrete Research*, vol. 115, pp. 472–506, 2019.
- [161] L. J. Parrot and D. C. Killoh, "Prediction of cement hydration," Br. Ceram. Proc., vol. 35, pp. 41–53, 1984.

- [162] D. A. Kulik, T. Wagner, S. V. Dmytrieva, G. Kosakowski, F. F. Hingerl, K. V. Chudnenko, and U. R. Berner, "Gem-selektor geochemical modeling package: Revised algorithm and gems3k numerical kernel for coupled simulation codes," *Comp Geosc*, vol. 17, no. 1, pp. 1–24, 2013.
- [163] D. A. Kulik, F. Winnefeld, A. Kulik, G. D. Miron, and B. Lothenbach, "Cemgems – an easy-to-use web application for thermodynamic modeling of cementitious materials," *RILEM Technical Letters*, vol. 6, pp. 36–52, 2021.
- [164] B. Lothenbach and F. Winnefeld, "Thermodynamic modelling of the hydration of portland cement," *Cement and Concrete Research*, vol. 36, no. 2, pp. 209–226, 2006.
- [165] W. Breit, "Bauwerküberwachung mit Hilfe von nachträglich installierten Feuchtesensoren (Multi-Ring-Elektroden)," Report, Institut für Bauforschung Aachen, 2012.
- [166] N. Epple, D. F. Barroso, E. Niederleithinger, I. Hindersmann, C. Sodeikat, and R. Groschup, "From the lab to the structure: Monitoring of a german road bridge using embedded ultrasonic transducers and coda waves," *Lecture Notes in Civil Engineering*, vol. 254 LNCE, pp. 824–832, 2023.
- [167] "Future of monitoring civil engineering structures." https://chat. openai.com/chat/309bbe29-19ad-4a8e-a1bb-bb4845d233e6, 2023. Accessed: 2023-01-13.
Coda wave interferometry (CWI) is a novel non-destructive method for monitoring the integrity of concrete structures. It is highly sensitive to even weak material changes, making it an effective early warning system for potential damage. By comparing two ultrasonic waveforms, CWI identifies velocity shifts in the late-arriving coda waves, particularly in heterogeneous media where scattering occurs. This study analyzed the effects of temperature, humidity, and stress on coda wave velocity by means of the stretching method, identifying linear and non-linear relationships. Long-term phenomena such as shrinkage and creep were also characterized. Following the conducted experiments, an additional model was developed to further enhance the understanding of these factors and their impact on concrete over time.

